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1 An Overview of the Council's Performance 

1.1 Introduction 
 
Coventry City Council is a metropolitan district 
council responsible for all local government duties 
within the city of Coventry. The Council is 
required to set out its accounts in line with strict 
standards and this Statement of Accounts 

presents the Council’s financial performance for 
the year ending 31st March 2019. The narrative 
report below helps to explain some of the key 
elements of the Council’s role, its impact on major 
developments in the city and its performance for 

the year including some of the key financial 
information and how this links to the statements 
and notes in this document. 

 
 

1.2 Narrative Report 
 
Coventry is a city with exciting and challenging 
times ahead. Over the years the city has 
continually reinvented itself to rise to fresh 
challenges. In recent years, the city’s population 
has been growing, changing and becoming more 
diverse: Now home to over 360,100 people, 
Coventry is a young city, with a median age of 32 
compared to the England average of 40 years; 
and the city has seen a high rate of population 
growth amongst its young adult population of 
students and young professionals aged 18-29 in 
particular. The population is also changing in 
respect of the growth in over 65s, a group that is 
expected to increase in the next 10-15 years. The 
city is diverse and multicultural – not only does it 
have a global recognition for its work in peace 
and reconciliation, but the city itself is also 
becoming increasingly diverse, with 49% of the 
city’s schoolchildren from a Black and Minority 
Ethnic background. Although the city is cohesive, 
and people from different backgrounds report that 
they mix and get on well with one another, there 
is evidence to show that people do not feel they 
have influence over local decisions, which may 
create future barriers to cohesion. 
 

Employment and skills have continued to 
increase, particularly in highly skilled jobs. The 
city’s advanced manufacturing sector is growing, 
helped by the increase in the city’s working age 
population that is highly skilled and qualified. 
Education standards have also increased, with 
94% of primary and 74% of secondary students 
attending a good/outstanding school; and fewer 
young people not in education, employment or 
training. However, significant pockets of 
deprivation limit people’s opportunities to succeed 
in life, with nearly one in five neighbourhoods 
considered to be amongst the 10% most deprived 
neighbourhoods in England. In addition, 10% of 
the population have no qualifications at all, 
limiting their ability to gain better paid 
employment in the city. To transform life chances 
in these areas and thereby increase everybody’s 
opportunity to succeed in life requires ensuring 
every child achieves a good level of development 
by the age of five. This is because social 
inequalities are already established from the early 
years of life. 
 
The vast majority of people are satisfied with their 
local area as a place to live. Most people live 

within walking distance of a general/grocery shop, 
public transport links, parks, pubs, GP 
surgery/health centre, or a place of worship; 
providing opportunities to socialise, exercise and 
enjoy their lives. However, overall health in the 
city is below average, with residents living in more 
deprived parts of the city not only living shorter 
lives, but also spending a greater proportion of 
their shorter lives in poor health than those living 
in less deprived parts of the city. 
 
As the city’s population ages in the next 10-15 
years, it is important therefore to focus upon 
steps to improve the health of all social groups in 
a way that reflects each group's assets and 
needs, making use of communities, as they have 
the networks, understanding and legitimacy 
amongst their peers to address health challenges; 
in order to ensure that the expected increase in 
demand for adult social care services can be met 
in the future. 
 
The Council’s Operational Performance 

Coventry City Council is a metropolitan district 
authority organised into two Directorates which 



 

5 

cover the full range of local government 
responsibilities. Professional support functions 
are delivered by teams located within both 
Directorates. The People Directorate focuses on 
co-ordinating, commissioning or directly providing 
health, care, housing and education services for 
local residents, while the Place Directorate’s 
focus is on the city’s economic growth and 
prosperity, environment and cultural life. The 
city’s emerging One Coventry approach is 
working towards ensuring that services in both 
Directorates, along with partner agencies and 
local community groups, work together 
collaboratively to make the biggest positive 
impact on the lives of local people. 
 
The Council’s overall strategy is set out in the 
Council Plan, “One Coventry”, which sets out the 
vision, priorities and aspirations for the city to be 
“globally connected” to promote the growth of a 
sustainable Coventry economy and “locally 
committed” to improve the quality of life for 
Coventry people. Key information about the city 
and measures of the Council’s overall 
performance are provided separately in an annual 
performance report formally considered by 
Cabinet, Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee and 
presented at an All Members Seminar every 
summer. 
 
In October 2018, the Council invited a Local 
Government Association (LGA) Peer Challenge 
Team to provide challenge and share learning. As 
part of the review, the team of senior officers and 
councillors from local authorities from across the 
UK, supported by the LGA, spoke with external 
stakeholders, partners, Council officers and 
councillors. The LGA is the national voice of local 
government, working with councils to support, 
promote and improve local government. As a part 
of its work, it offers a Peer Challenge Review to 

every council every four or five years. The report 
recognised the Council’s success in “successfully 
meeting the financial challenge to date”, 
“combining its traditional values centred on 
delivering for local people with a growing track 
record of innovation and managed risk taking”, as 
well as the city’s “strong reputation as an 
evidence-led organisation” and in being “one of 
the most pro-active local authorities to work with 
in terms of promoting social value”. It also made a 
number of recommendations, around prioritising 
action to tackle homelessness; learning from 
other public sector organisations on best practice 
on industrial relations, pay and reward, and HR 
policy and partnership; driving the digital agenda; 
and building a shared vision for working in 
partnership. Over the past six months, steps have 
been taken to begin addressing these challenges 
and recommendations identified by the Peer 
Challenge Review. 
 
A person's lifelong health, happiness and 
productivity in society are influenced by their early 
years, and continued investment into early 
identification and intervention is critical. With the 
city’s investment into family hubs, the city has 
seen an increase in the percentage of five year 
olds achieving a good level of development. 
However, this is still below the rates seen in 
similar authorities and nationally. As a child ages, 
it is the quality of education that makes a 
difference, and attendance at good schools are 
important – and in terms of education, the vast 
majority of primary school pupils continue to 
attend schools rated good/outstanding and more 
pupils finish year 6 reaching the expected 
standard in reading, writing and maths. At 
secondary level, more pupils now attend a 
good/outstanding school, and attainment and 
progress measures at year 11 have seen 
improvement. With two good universities and an 

increasing range of highly paid jobs available in 
the city, there has also been a decrease in the 
number of young people not in education, 
employment or training – although further work 
needs to be done to raise aspirations of young 
people to take on the significant and growing 
opportunities available in the city and region. 
 
Social care services in the city have seen a 
marked improvement although the sector faces 
significant and sustained pressures. In children’s 
services, there has been an increase in the 
overall number of looked after children, as well as 
an increase in re-referrals. In adult social care, 
the number of people in long term support has 
increased – but remains within the expected 
range. 
 
The city is facing a huge challenge around 
homelessness, both in terms of financial costs 
and poor outcomes, around placements in 
temporary bed and breakfast accommodation. 
This year has seen the creation of an integrated 
housing team bringing together housing strategy, 
housing options (choice-based lettings) and 
homelessness prevention; and the bringing 
together of the Council’s Housing First and 
“making every adult matter” approach for people 
who experience rough sleeping, substance 
misuse and other severe and multiple 
disadvantage. 
 
Like other cities, there has been a surge in 
concern about crime and violence, particularly 
knife crime, and consequential effects on 
perceptions of safety. The city has seen an 
increase in crime rates, however rates are still 
lower than other areas in the West Midlands such 
as Birmingham or Wolverhampton. The city is 
adopting a public health approach to tackling 
violence that is looking at violence not as isolated 
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incidents or solely a police enforcement problem 
but considering it as a preventable consequence 
of a range of factors, such as adverse early-life 
experiences, or harmful social or community 
experiences and influences. 
 
 
The city's economy is strong, with a growing 
advanced manufacturing sector, increasing rates 
of employment and decreasing rates of 
unemployment, and more residents with high 
level qualifications. More residents are working in 
highly-skilled and higher paid jobs. The city 
continues to attract external investment, leading 
to a rapidly changing city skyline – from the 
demolition of old tower blocks to the construction 
of new buildings including student 
accommodation and apartment blocks to meet 
the changing needs of the city. This is predicted 
to lead to further private sector investment into 
the city centre including Cathedral Lanes, the 
Upper Precinct, and City Centre South. 
 
To support the growth of the city’s economy and 
to provide a pleasant environment for local 
people, the Council has responsibilities around 
networks, air quality, green spaces and 
cleanliness. The city’s road network continues to 
be in a good/acceptable condition, having 
improved markedly from previous years. 
However, the city faces challenges around 
littering and fly-tipping, with a marked increase in 
the number of fly-tips reported. Despite the 
increase in fly-tipping, the Council continues to 
successfully attend to and address the same 
proportion of fly-tips; and has developed metrics 
to identify, determine and address the levels of 
cleanliness across the city. 
 
The Council has had to respond to reductions in 
its funding from Government of around £113m 

between 2010/11 and 2018/19. Challenges 
around the achievement of some savings and the 
emergence of new expenditure pressures has 
meant that the Council had needed to address a 
significant financial gap. The uncertainty over the 
future local government funding model means 
that the proposals do not provide the Council with 
a balanced budget beyond 2019/20. The 
budgetary position will need to be determined by 
the revised funding announcements that will arise 
from the expected changes to local government 
finance this year, and progress made towards 
addressing the budgetary gap. 
 
It is against this background that the Council's 
financial performance is examined below. 
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The Council’s Financial Performance – 
Revenue 

In February 2018, the Council set an overall 
budget for its revenue expenditure of £727m. The 
following table shows how it was planned that this 
expenditure would be funded.  
 

 
 
The grants actually received are set out in note 
3.8 Analysis of Revenue Grants. 
 
Through the year, the Council measures the 
management of its day to day revenue 
expenditure based on the total amount it spends 
less the amount it receives for specific grants and 
fees and charges, representing a net budget of 
£234m. After setting aside £4.6m as a targeted 
contribution to its General Fund Balance, 
discussed below, the Council has achieved a 
residual underspend against budget for 2018/19 
of £1.0m.  
 
The first Resilience Index published by CIPFA in 
2019 indicated that the Council had a very low 
balance of general reserves (as a proportion of 
budget) compared with its peer authorities. In 
response the Council has specifically set aside 
£4.6m to increase its General Fund Balance 
ensuring that this is more in line with balances 
held by other similar councils. This contribution 

and the residual outturn underspend referenced 
above total £5.6m as set out in the table overleaf 
and more fully in note 3.4 Revenue Outturn.  
 
These accounts reflect the structure incorporating 
the Council’s two main service directorates – the 
People Directorate and Place Directorate. The 
table overleaf includes the key service areas that 
sit within these two Directorates. 
 
Within 2018/19 there were two main areas of 
budgetary overspend. One of these involved 
services relating to housing and homelessness 
where the overall overspend was £3.0m. 
Coventry has continued to face a large number of 
people and families that require housing and for 
whom the Council has had to arrange temporary 
accommodation. Only part of this cost is covered 
by Housing Benefit Subsidy and the remainder 
has had to be funded by the Council.  
 
Given the financial challenges in these services 
the Council has taken forward a number of 
approaches to address the underlying issues in 
2018/19, amongst them the purchase of Council 
owned temporary accommodation and creation of 
additional management capacity to help deliver 
housing services more effectively. Some of these 
approaches will take some time to be fully 
effective but the intention is that the budgetary 
position will have stabilised for 2019/20.   
 
The other significant area of overspend relates to 
the Council’s Waste and Fleet services, which 
have suffered a budgetary overspend of £2.7m. 
Much of this results from the disposal costs of 
both commercial and domestic waste as well as 
additional employee and ancillary costs of these 
services and a delay in securing sufficient 
additional business growth within the commercial 
sector to cover cost increases. 

 
Other areas within the accounts have witnessed 
one-off windfalls amounting to around £8m. 
These include: additional dividends from its 
shareholdings in the Coventry and Warwickshire 
Waste Disposal Company and Coombe Abbey 
Park Limited; a surplus generated via the 
Coventry and Warwickshire Business Rates Pool; 
additional treasury management investment 
income; cost avoidance from the capitalisation of 
interest costs; and lower than budgeted pension 
costs linked to an early payment arrangement 
with the West Midlands Pension Fund. In addition 
the Council has incurred lower than budgeted 
costs in relation to redundancy and early 
retirement and capital programme financing 
costs. Taken together these have allowed the 
Council to strengthen its level of reserves set 
aside for potential future workforce restructuring 
costs and provide funding for future commercial 
development opportunities, in addition to the 
contributions to the General Fund Balance 
referenced above.   
 
The purpose of the Council's key financial 
statements is explained in section 2.1. These 
include the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES) shown at 2.2 
which shows the cost of providing services in a 
different way to the position described above. The 
CIES reflects non-cash movements such as 
changes in the Council's pension liability and 
asset valuations, both of which are discussed 
below. On this basis the Council made a surplus 
of £48.3m in the year. Accounting convention 
means that the value of this movement is 
reflected also in the Council's Balance Sheet and 
Movement in Reserves Statement, both of which 
have increased in value by £48.3m in the year. 
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The Council’s Financial Performance – Capital 

Final Capital Programme spend for the year was 
£147m compared with a budget of £263m. 
Although a number of schemes made much 
slower progress than planned within the year the 
final level of capital expenditure was still the 
highest experienced in the modern era. The 
majority of the expenditure was funded from a 
combination of external grants and prudential 

borrowing, as set out in note 3.18 Capital 
Expenditure and Capital Financing. The most 
significant schemes undertaken in the year 
included investment in the city’s Battery 
Industrialisation Centre, near completion of the 
city’s new destination leisure facility, infrastructure 
works within the Whitley South scheme and 
purchase of the Council’s share in the Friargate 
Joint Venture.  

On the 17th December 2018 the City Council 
acquired 50% of the ordinary share capital of 
Friargate JV Project Ltd, established to develop 
new buildings as part of the creation of a 
business district within the city.  
 
The Council had previously (February 2018) 
incorporated the UK Battery Industrialisation 
Centre as sole shareholder. The purpose of the 
company is to run the National Battery 
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Development Facility which is currently being 
constructed and equipped. The capital costs are 
included within the Council’s single entity 
accounts such that any transactional activity 
within the company is at a minimum currently. 
 
The city’s new destination swimming and leisure 
facility ‘The Wave’ is planned to open early in 
2019/20. In close proximity to the Salt Lane multi-
storey car park (also nearing completion) and the 
newly opened restaurants within the Cathedral 
Lanes complex, the facility is further evidence of 
the Council’s efforts to regenerate the city.  
 
Like many other areas, changes in the current 
model of retail led urban centres is proving very 
challenging with an increasing number of high 
profile brands disappearing from the high street. 
This helps to explain, in part, the delay in bringing 
forward the proposed development of City Centre 
South, a regeneration scheme planned for a 
major part of the area within the city’s ring-road. It 
will be vital, particularly in such a volatile 
environment, that the Council and its chosen 
development partner, secure a model that 
delivers a robust and sustainable project which 
includes an appropriate mix of retail, leisure, 
residential and commercial provision. 
 
As part of its overall financial plans, the Council 
has continued to generate capital receipts from 
the sale of assets and to invest some of the 
proceeds into assets providing a higher return. 
This model remains an option for the Council 
going forward but will be limited by the Council’s 
ability and desire to continue to identify potential 
property assets from what is a reducing pool. The 
use of external grants (rather than receipts) to 
part fund 2018/19 capital expenditure has 
enabled the Council to carry forward capital 
resources to fund future expenditure plans. These 

resources are included within note 3.13 Usable 
and Unusable Reserves. 
 
Part of the expenditure programme has been 
earmarked to be funded by prudential borrowing 
although due to the Council’s existing cash 
balances it has been able to delay taking out any 
long-term borrowing within 2018/19 in terms of its 
treasury management activity. As a result of 
some existing borrowing being repaid the 
Council's long-term borrowing reflected in the 
Balance Sheet has gone down in the year from 
£333m to £317m. 
 
Reserve Balances 

The total level of reserves owned and controlled 
by the Council to support its revenue spending 
activities has gone up by £9m in 2018/19 and 
now stands at £71m. A further £26m of reserve 
balances either belong to or have been set aside 
to support the city’s schools, an increase of £2m 
in the year. These school reserves are not 
available for the Council to use for other 
purposes. In addition, capital resources set aside 
to fund one-off capital schemes stand at £23m.  

 
The revenue reserves are held for a number of 
reasons. Several of the largest balances include: 
£10m set aside to deliver the Council’s long-term 
Private Finance Initiative specific projects, £10m 
held to help the Council to restructure its 
workforce so that it can balance future budgets; 
nearly £5m to support the UK City of Culture 2021 
Programme. 
 
It is often difficult to explain to citizens and others 
who show an interest in the Council’s financial 
activity, the need to hold this level of financial 
balances. However, the Council’s view is that the 

scale of the financial challenges facing the 
Council and range of the projects and aspirations 
that it has established for itself over the next few 
years provides a strong justification for setting 
aside these amounts. In addition, based on the 
latest nationally available data (for 2017/18) the 
Council continues to hold more modest reserve 
balances (relative to its size) than much of the 
rest of local government hence the decision to 
increase its General Fund Balance, held to 
manage any unforeseen financial challenges, to 
£10m. Further detail on the Council’s reserve 
balances are set out in note 3.13 Usable and 
Unusable Reserves. 
 
Treasury Management 

The Council has maintained high levels of short-
term treasury investments for several years as a 
result mainly of receiving large amounts of grant 
funding ahead of the of the need to spend on the 
associated capital projects. The like-for-like level 
of the Council’s short-term investments has 
reduced in the year and consideration is now 
turning to when the Council will need to undertake 
some long-term treasury borrowing. The long-
term borrowing position at the end of 2018/19 
stands at its lowest level for some years. This 
position will continue to be kept under review and 
will be informed by the Council’s cash-flow 
position and prevailing interest rate conditions 
and will be driven by the need to secure the most 
advantageous financial outcome that can be 
achieved.  
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Other Issues within the Accounts 

This section considers the two most material 
areas of the Council's accounts by value, asset 
valuations and pensions accounting. It also looks 
at the Council's going concern status plus other 
issues that are important due to their financial 
materiality or their wider public interest. 

The Council's Balance Sheet shows the value at 
the balance sheet date of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the authority. This is summarised 
in the table below and set out in full in section 2.4 
The Council's property assets represent £759m 
or 61% of the Long Term Assets figure. Its 
pension liabilities represent £554m or 61% of its 
Long-Term Liabilities. 
 

 
 
Note 5.3 Critical Judgements in Applying 
Accounting Policies captures any areas within the 
accounts that have a significant risk of material 
adjustment within the next financial year.  The 
sections below give an indication of the 

complexity and volatility of both pensions and 
asset accounting and demonstrate why the 
Council has included these as the two areas 
within this categorisation. 
 
Pensions Accounting 

The Council’s pension deficit represents the most 
striking single factor within these accounts as it is 
for many other local authorities, and as it is likely 
to do for some years to come. The balance sheet 
shows a shortfall of £554m between the current 
value of amounts paid into the pension fund and 
the forecast cost of pensions that will need to be 
paid out in future. This is slightly higher than the 
deficit recorded in the 2017/18 accounts and, 
when compared with the total value of everything 
the Council owns (£1,381m), the overall pension 
deficit remains a significant matter for 
consideration. 
 
There are a number of contributory reasons why 
local government pension deficits have risen over 
the past ten or so years. The two main factors are 
that people are living longer and that changes in 
financial conditions have led to reductions in the 
pensions’ discount rate. Both of these increase 
the estimated future costs of pensions. The 
overall position on pensions has required 
increases in Local Government Pension Scheme 
pension contributions from employers and 
employees nationally. Coventry City Council 
made year-on-year increases in employer 
pension contributions between 2014/15 and 
2017/18 as part of the two most recent three 
yearly reviews of the pension scheme. Although 
this represents extra costs to the Council, these 
are being managed within its overall budget and 
mean that the financial position of the authority 
remains sound. 

The detailed effects of pensions' accounting for 
the local government and teachers' unfunded 
pension schemes are shown in sections 3.30 
Pension Costs and 3.31 Retirement Benefits. 
 
In line with a number of other local authorities, the 
Council took the opportunity to pay a sum in 
2017/18, equivalent to all of its employer pension 
contributions for the three year period 2017/18 to 
2019/20, to the West Midlands Pension Fund. 
The nature and longevity of the investment 
opportunities available to the Pension Fund mean 
that they are able to secure far greater returns on 
their investments. As a result the Fund has been 
able to offer councils including Coventry a 
discount on their overall contributions; in 
Coventry’s case these contributions total £93m. 
The cash sum paid is included within the 
calculation of the £554m pension liability above. 
However, accounting conventions allow the 
payments to be allocated across the period up to 
2019/20. Therefore, the Council has only charged 
the in-year figure to its general fund. As a result, 
there is a difference of £31m representing a 
divergence between the Pension Liability and 
Pension Reserve which is allowable under the 
circumstances described here. 
 
This divergence represents a favourable 
movement in pensions’ liability in 2018/19. Other 
than this the most significant changes have been: 
a decrease in the discount rate (which drives up 
the value of pension benefits and increase current 
service costs) and a decrease in life expectancy 
which results in a decrease in liabilities. Overall 
these movements have broadly balanced each 
other out and increased the liability slightly from 
2017/18. 
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Asset Valuations  

The Council’s assets (its land, property, vehicles 
and heritage assets) are assessed on a regular 
basis to ensure that their value is reflected 
accurately in the accounts. The land and property 
valuations in particular are always subject to the 
external economic climate and in some previous 
years wider financial uncertainty has caused 
some downward pressure on these values. In 
overall terms the Council’s asset value has been 
relatively stable although this has incorporated 
downward movement in the retail sector 
compensated for by increase across the rest of 
the portfolio. The Council now reviews a higher 
proportion of its portfolio on an annual basis than 
has been the case historically, reflecting the 
materiality of this area within the accounts.  

Two Coventry schools transferred to academy 
status in 2018/19. The day to day costs and 
funding of the schools are included within these 
accounts up to the day on which they transferred. 
Their budget shares of £8m will not be included in 
the Council's accounts in future and £18m of 
asset value has been removed from the Council’s 
accounts in the year. In overall terms, the 
increase in investment property value in the 
balance sheet is the most significant movement in 
asset values in the year resulting principally from 
additions to the portfolio. 
 
Due to the overall significance of asset values 
within the Council’s balance sheet and their 
sensitivity to external factors it remains 
appropriate for asset valuations to be included as 
a significant assumption made in estimating 
assets and liabilities. 
 
 
 

Going Concern 
 
In compiling these accounts, the Council needs to 
be satisfied that it remains as a going concern. 
This means that it will be able to continue 
operating for a period of time that is sufficient to 
carry out its commitments and objectives. This 
assessment has become more relevant for local 
government in recent years with doubts being 
expressed about whether some local authorities 
will be able to deliver their full range of service 
commitments given the financial pressures they 
face, and a number of councils issuing warnings 
about their future financial viability.  
 
In the opinion of the Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services, Coventry City Council 
remains in a sound financial position taking into 
account its medium term financial plans, the 
statutory position held by local authorities and the 
relative strength of its sources of revenue. 
Integral to this and one of the key measures of 
financial health is the level of the Council’s 
reserve balances referred to above and these 
continue to be maintained at a healthy but 
reasonable level. In addition, the statutory 
environment in which local authorities operate 
means that, were an authority to encounter 
financial difficulties, the prospect would be that 
central government would implement alternative 
arrangements for the continuation of services or 
provide assistance to allow the recovery of any 
deficit over more than one year. On the basis of 
these conditions, the Council remains a going 
concern. 
 
Exit From the European Union 
 
On 23 June 2016 a referendum of British voters 
determined that Britain should leave the 
European Union (EU) and an initial leaving date 

of 29th March 2019 was subsequently agreed. 
The negotiations surrounding this process have 
been a matter of significant public debate and 
disagreement and have provided much of the 
political and financial backdrop to the 2018/19 
financial year. As the leaving date approached it 
was first delayed until 12th April and then again to 
31st October 2019.  
 
It would be reasonable for the reader of the 
accounts to ask what impact this has had and 
continues to have on the City Council’s financial 
position but the reality is that the Council’s 
accounts do not reflect any large, distinct and 
demonstrable impacts of the exit process. There 
have been no major shocks to the Council’s 
ongoing service provision, the value of its 
property assets or the collection of its Business 
Rates for instance. Although there have been 
warnings about the impact (potential and actual) 
on some local employers, this has not, at the time 
of writing, manifested itself in major economic 
disruption with financial consequences for the 
Council. 
 
The position assumed within these accounts is 
that, although there could yet be unplanned and 
unforeseen impacts, exit from the EU is not 
specifically identified as a factor within the 
accounting position of the Council. The range of 
potential political outcomes and resulting wider 
implications is so broad and subject to contention, 
that they cannot be reliably reflected within this 
accounting statement. The negotiations and 
outcomes of the process will continue to be in a 
state of flux over the months covering the 
drafting, auditing and approval of these accounts 
and any material impact identified will clearly 
need to be incorporated and will be monitored 
closely over this period. 
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The Ricoh Arena 

For several years the Council has faced a judicial 
review claim relating to the sale of a lease 
extension on the Ricoh Arena to London Wasps 
Holdings Ltd. This had resulted in a contingent 
liability being recorded in the Council’s accounts. 
On 16th April 2019 a decision by the Supreme 
Court rejected the final appeal to take this claim 
forward meaning that the Council is no longer 
required to record a contingent liability.  

The Better Care Fund 

The Better Care Fund (BCF) has required Local 
Authorities and Clinical Commissioning Groups to 
pool budgets from 1st April 2015 with the 
intention of driving improvement through the 
integration of services and resources. The 
Council has spent £43m in this area as part of an 
overall pooled budget of £94m. These 
arrangements will become increasingly important 
in future years as the government channels more 
and more funding through this mechanism. The 
overall pooled budget relationship is set out in 
note 3.11 Pooled Budgets. 

 

University Hospital Business Rates Appeal  

The Council received a request in February 2016 
for mandatory Business Rates relief for the 
University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire 
NHS Trust, replicating similar claims made across 
the country.  

If the relief is granted this would represent a 
significant on-going impact on the Council’s 
Business Rates revenue as well as representing 
a risk that the appeal could be back-dated.  The 
Council’s view is that the claim is not valid and it 

has not been reflected as a provision in these 
accounts. However, because it remains possible 
that the claim is upheld and because the costs 
could potentially be very large, this has led the 
Council to recognise this as a contingent liability 
in note 3.37. 

City of Culture 2021 
 
The Council agreed in December 2017 to become 
a guarantor for the UK City of Culture 2021 
programme. The Council’s assessment is that this 
does not represent a significant financial risk given 
the nature of the guarantee and the robust 
governance and management structures 
surrounding the Trust’s activities. 
 
Accounting Policies  

The most significant change in accounting 
policies in 2018/19 relates to IFRS (International 
Financial Reporting Standard) 9. The standard 
requires the Council to make an assessment of its 
financial assets covering how gains and losses 
are calculated and future expected credit losses. 
 

The Council has also incorporated the 
requirements of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers and IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts, 
although these have not led to significant 
changes to these accounts. 
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Future Plans 

The Council’s key priorities incorporate a need for 
the city to become more prosperous and for the 
Council to lead the drive for economic growth and 
stimulate the local economy. The Council has 
been progressing its plans to regenerate the city 
centre for several years and its future Capital 
Programme is now bringing this forward, including 
progress on the planned Friargate business 
district next to Coventry railway station, which 
itself is subject to significant refurbishment and 
redevelopment. Plans are now underway to begin 
work on a second new building at Friargate 
following the Council’s investment in a joint 
venture company designed specifically to 
regenerate the area.  
 
In close proximity to this, the construction phases 
of the city’s new swimming and leisure facility and 
the Salt Lane multi-storey car park are now 
virtually complete with plans for both to open in 
mid-2019. These are tangible signs of the action 
that the Council is taking to improve the 
attractiveness of Coventry as a destination for 
people to live, work and do business. In addition, 
the construction phase of a new 50 metre 
swimming facility is well under way at the Alan 
Higgs Centre in the city. 
 
In 2016/17 the Council formally joined the West 
Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) alongside 
the other six West Midlands councils. The 
purpose of the WMCA is to draw together 
strategic work across transport, economic 
development, employment, skills and housing, 
improving outcomes for the region. The WMCA 
established a Devolution Deal which represents a 
funding package totalling £8bn to deliver major 
projects across the West Midlands. For Coventry, 

Devolution Deal related projects have incurred 
£11m of spend within the 2018/19 accounts. 
Some projects within the Deal have not yet begun 
and will ultimately rely upon funding streams 
being confirmed in the future. The Council 
continues to work with the WMCA and the other 
West Midlands councils to secure this funding. 
 
 Progress is anticipated on a range of key 
projects in the year, not least the Whitley South 
Infrastructure Project aimed at supporting Jaguar 
Land Rover and local manufacturers and 

businesses in the supply chain. Project 
completion is expected for ‘The Wave’ destination 
swimming and leisure facility and adjoining Salt 
Lane car park, significant further construction 
headway is expected for the Coventry Station 
Masterplan and the UK Battery Industrialisation 
plant and the next steps planned for the Friargate 
regeneration area in the city. Add to this plans for 
further enrichment of the public realm and the 
cultural fabric of the city centre and it is clear that 
the Council is committed to its continuing 
ambitious investment in the city. 
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Like many councils, Coventry’s general grant 
resources from Government have reduced each 
year since 2010 and the Council’s medium term 
financial plans include future projected 
reductions. In reality it is very difficult to make any 
robust predictions on this given the changes 
facing the local government sector outlined 
below.  
 
As a result of the Council’s participation in the 
West Midlands Business Rates Retention Pilot, 
99% of Business Rates income has been retained 
locally in 2018/19, a position that will continue for 
the duration of the Pilot.  
 
One of the consequences of 99% retention has 
been that the Council has moved from a position 
where it received a resource top-up from 
Government to one where it paid a resource tariff 
to Government. This tariff was over £9m in 
2018/19 and will rise to nearly £20m in 2019/20. 
 
The Council’s participation in the Pilot and in the 
Coventry and Warwickshire Business Rates Pool 
will prolong the optimisation of financial gain that 
can be achieved from the existing arrangements 
surrounding local government finance. 
Nevertheless, it is difficult to ignore the 
prospective changes that lay ahead via the 
Government’s Spending Review, expected 
changes to the local government fair funding 
review, a shift to a 75% Business Rates and 3 
yearly Business Rates revaluations. At the time of 
writing, doubt still exists over the precise timing of 
these events as well as their extent and impact. 
The net result of this is that the Council, like all 
local authorities, faces a large degree of 
uncertainty from 2020/21 onwards with regard to 
its funding position. 
 

Whilst future changes promise to deliver greater 
autonomy to local government they also 
represent significant risks. It will be important that 
a degree of national resource equalisation is 
maintained within local government finances to 
protect services in more deprived areas of the 
country and care will also need to be taken to 
ensure that transfers of responsibility for funding 
services can be managed within the new 
resources made available. Until the details of 
these developments are worked through for the 
period after 2019/20 it is impossible to have any 
clarity on their impact. 
 
The reduction in and uncertainty of future revenue 
resources and a need to manage spending 
pressures means that the identification of ways in 
which the Council can balance future budgets will 
attract a renewed emphasis ahead of setting the 
2020/21 budget. Given the large degree of 
uncertainty over the resource envelope that the 
Council will face, it will need to build a significant 
degree of flexibility into its financial plans to allow 
it to respond to a range of financial scenarios. 
The fundamental way in which the Council has 
been able to balance its budget in recent years 
has been through a reduction in its workforce. 
The Council’s non-schools workforce now stands 
at less than 5,000 individuals, a reduction 
approaching 3,000 compared with the equivalent 
figure in 2010. Although this has been required by 
the financial position faced in recent years, the 
trend in 2018/19 indicates a significantly lower 
rate of reduction. The Council now faces a key 
challenge to balance its employee cost base with 
the need to ensure a sufficient quantity and 
calibre of employees to deliver the challenging 
programme of activity including forthcoming major 
capital projects and the UK City of Culture. 
 

The 2018/19 outturn position indicate that the 
Council has made good strides in providing 
budgetary provision for several key revenue 
issues within children’s services and housing and 
homelessness. However, whereas the children’s 
services position has stabilised to a good degree, 
the city still faces some volatility in terms of the 
demand for services and budgetary position 
within housing and homelessness. This and the 
control of costs within the Council’s waste 
services will be the initial focus of management 
attention in the early part of 2019/20.  
 
The Council has been able to stabilise the 
budgetary pressure within adult social care in 
recent years. However, in common with the wider 
funding arrangements for local government, the 
position beyond 2019/20 remains unclear for this 
area. It will be essential for the Government to 
provide the necessary clarification via its plans for 
Improved Better Care Funding and its much 
delayed Adult Social Care Green Paper to enable 
this sector to be put on a firm financial footing and 
continue the closer working relationship to deliver 
services that has developed between the Council 
and the health sector locally.  
 
The Council will continue to work with its key local 
partners and arms-length organisations in 
2019/20 to help strengthen its financial position 
and drive regenerative and enriching change to 
the city and it surrounds.  
 
Work will continue through the Coventry and 
Warwickshire Local Enterprise Partnership and 
the West Midlands Combined Authority to 
implement major transport, regeneration and 
business focussed projects and initiatives. These 
will be supplemented by further strands of activity 
taken forward through the newly establishment 
Friargate Project and Battery Industrialisation 
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Centre companies in which the Council is a 
shareholder. 
 
Through its role as a major funder and partner the 
Council will work with the City of Culture Trust as 
preparations accelerate towards the UK City of 
Culture 2021 celebrations. More immediately in 
2019 the Council is supporting Coventry’s role as 
European City of Sport and the city’s Year of 
Wellbeing, promoting a vision ‘to promote and 
celebrate, in every community, the benefits of 
sport and physical activity, and to be the catalyst 
for a fitter, healthier city in the future’. 
 
Reference is made elsewhere in this Narrative 
Report to the significance of the cost of pensions 
to the Council’s financial position. The rate of 
employer contributions are currently reviewed 
every three years and this will happen once again 
in 2019, ahead of the 2020/21 financial year. 
Council officers will work closely with the West 
Midlands Pension Fund and the Fund’s actuary to 
establish a sustainable and affordable 
contribution rate. 
 
The Council has ambitious plans to support public 
realm improvement, develop key areas of the city, 
support private investment in city centre 
developments and facilitate capital projects linked 
to the City of Culture. Work continues to bring 
forward the City Centre South regeneration 
scheme and the Council is taking great care to 
ensure that the shape of this initiative reflects 
current trends to ensure its future success. 
 
Given the financial challenges that face the 
Council and the desire to avoid further cuts to 
services, the Council continues to seek to explore 
and pursue new commercial opportunities and to 
maximise the financial return that it is able to 
achieve from its assets. 2018/19 has seen further 

investment in commercial properties and external 
company shareholdings designed to secure 
financial returns over the long-term as well as 
broadening the Council’s strategic mix of assets.  
The Council’s activity will continue to be 
developed with due regard to guidance from the 
Government and the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) issued with 
the intention of ensuring that authorities stay 
within prudent and reasonable parameters of 
activity. The Council is clear that the risk of not 
pursuing such opportunities is that it will need to 
make additional cuts to services, a risk that it is 
keen to avoid. 
 
What is clear is that the Council’s financial plans 
will need to maintain a degree of flexibility and 
ensure that some additional resilience is 
incorporated to protect the Council’s medium term 
financial position. 
 
The Council’s response to the key governance 
issues that it faces in 2018/19 are set out in the 
Annual Governance Statement (AGS) below. 
Apart from some of the existing financial and 
service challenges that are referred to within the 
AGS, it is worth noting that the Council has added 
actions in relation to the management of data 
access to its key systems, the governance of its 
relationships with key partners and governance 
over its programme of capital projects.
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1.3 Statement of Responsibilities 
 

Coventry City Council's Responsibilities 

The City Council is required to manage its 
financial affairs effectively including: 

• To make arrangements for the proper 
administration of its financial affairs and 
to ensure that one of its employees has 
the responsibility for the administration of 
those affairs.  In the case of the City 
Council, that employee is the Director of 
Finance and Corporate Services; 

• To manage its affairs to secure 
economic, efficient and effective use of 
resources and safeguard its assets; 

• To approve the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Director of Finance and Corporate 
Services’ Responsibilities 

The Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
is responsible for the preparation of the City 
Council's Statement of Accounts.  In accordance 
with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
("the Code"), the accounts are required to present 
a true and fair view of the City Council's financial 
position at the accounting date and the income 
and expenditure for the year. 
 
In preparing this statement of accounts, the 
Director of Finance and Corporate Services has: 

• selected suitable accounting policies and 
then applied them consistently; 

• made judgements and estimates that 
were reasonable and prudent; 

• complied with the Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting; 

 

The Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
has also: 

• kept proper accounting records, which 
were up to date; 

• taken reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities; 
 

Certification of the Accounts 

I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a 
true and fair view of Coventry City Council at 31st 
March 2019 and its income and expenditure for 
the year ended 31st March 2019, and that the 
accounts are authorised for issue. 
 
 
 
 
 
Barry Hastie, CPFA 
Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
2 September 2019 
 
 
This Statement of Accounts was approved by the 
Audit and Procurement Committee of Coventry 
City Council on 2 September 2019. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cllr Ram Lakha 
Chair of Audit and Procurement Committee 
2 September 2019 
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1.4 Annual Governance Statement 
 

Scope of responsibility  

Coventry City Council is responsible for ensuring that its business is 
conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public 
money is safeguarded and properly accounted for, and used economically, 
efficiently and effectively. Coventry City Council also has a duty under the 
Local Government Act 1999 to make arrangements to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which its functions are exercised, having regard to 
a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.  
 
In discharging this overall responsibility, Coventry City Council is responsible 
for putting in place proper arrangements for the governance of its affairs and 
facilitating the effective exercise of its functions, which includes arrangements 
for the management of risk.  
 
Coventry City Council has an approved Code of Corporate Governance, 
which is consistent with the principles reflected in the CIPFA/SOLACE 
framework and guidance Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 
(2016). A copy of the Code is available on our website or can be obtained 
from Democratic Services.  
 
The Annual Governance Statement explains how Coventry City Council has 
complied with the Code and also meets the requirements of Regulation 6(1) 
(b) of The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 which requires all relevant 
bodies to prepare an Annual Governance Statement. 
  
The purpose of the governance framework  

 
The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, culture 
and values by which the Authority is directed and controlled and its activities 
through which it accounts to, engages with and leads the community. It 
enables the authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives 
and to consider whether those objectives have led to the delivery of 
appropriate services and value for money.  
 
The system of internal control is a significant part of the framework and is 
designed to manage risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of 

failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can, therefore, only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system 
of internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and 
prioritise the risks to the achievement of Coventry City Council policies, aims 
and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood and potential impact of those risks 
being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically.  
 
The governance framework has been in place at Coventry City Council for the 
year ended 31st March 2019 and up to the date of approval of the Statement 
of Accounts. 
 
The governance framework  

 
The key principles, approach and review processes that comprise the 
authority’s governance arrangements are set out in the City Council’s Code of 
Corporate Governance. Key elements include the following: 
  
There is a governance/internal control environment that supports the Council 
in establishing, implementing and monitoring its policies and objectives. The 
Council’s overarching objectives are contained in published policy documents 
including the Council Plan. These high level plans are supported by a range 
of thematic policies, strategies and delivery plans, service plans, and detailed 
work programmes. 
 
Coventry’s Council Plan sets out the Council’s long-term vision and priorities 
for the city for the period 2016-2024.  In 2018, the Plan was reviewed and 
rebranded in line with the Council’s emerging One Coventry approach and a 
revised performance management framework has been introduced to improve 
transparency and streamline performance reporting with more regular 
information updates about the performance of the city. To deliver the 
Council’s long-term vision and priorities, the Council Plan affirms the Council’s 
commitment to do this by maximising the use of its assets and reducing its 
operating costs, and through active communities and empowered citizens.  
The Council Plan is part of the Council’s overall performance management 
framework designed to help the Council deliver its services and use its 
resources effectively in a planned and systematic way. A copy of the plan is 
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available and the performance management framework are available on the 
Council’s website. 
  
Throughout this process, clear channels of communication exist with all 
sections of the community and other stakeholders, to ensure the Council 
considers local needs and communicates both expected and actual outcomes 
for citizens and service users. This is evidenced through the Council’s formal 
decision-making and performance management processes.  
 
In October 2015, Coventry City Council agreed to join the proposed West 
Midlands Combined Authority, which is a model of governance for local 
authorities to act together to drive economic prosperity for the area. A 
Combined Authority is a statutory body in its own right supported by a 
devolution agreement with the Government and a constitution which sets out 
the terms of their funding and powers. 
 
In December 2017, it was announced that Coventry had been named the UK 
City of Culture for 2021. The aim of this programme is to encourage the use 
of culture and creativity as a catalyst for change, to promote the development 
of new partnerships and to encourage ambition, innovation and inspiration in 
cultural and creative activity. This activity will make significant contributions to 
the delivery of the Council Plan and corporate priorities.  Coventry City of 
Culture Trust has been set up to organise and deliver this activity and has 
been formally incorporated and received charitable status.  Financial 
responsibility for the Trust’s activities lie with the Chair and Trustees, with an 
independent Audit Committee providing scrutiny and oversight.   As 
accountable body and guarantor for delivery of the UK City of Culture 2021 
programme, Coventry City Council is a principal partner in supporting the 
work of the Trust and ensuring that there is good governance around the 
Trust meeting the City of Culture programme delivery and legacy ambitions. 
 
The control environment to ensure delivery of the Council’s objectives is laid 
down in the Council’s Constitution and performance management framework. 
The Constitution sets out how the Council operates, including:  
 
•   Roles and responsibilities of both Councillors and officers, including the 
Head of Paid Services, Monitoring Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 
 
•   How decisions are made and the procedures in place to ensure that these 
are efficient, transparent and accountable to local citizens.  The Constitution 
includes the Council’s senior management structure and a scheme of 

delegation which sets out the principles for decision making and responsibility 
for functions.   The Council facilitates policy and decision making via a 
Cabinet structure with Cabinet Member portfolios. There are scrutiny boards 
covering all portfolios and an overarching Scrutiny Co-ordination Committee.  
The Member decision making, advisory and scrutiny bodies are available on 
the Council’s website. 
 
Coventry City Council has developed a comprehensive set of policies and 
procedures, including those relating to the standards expected of Members 
and officers. These are subject to regular review to ensure the Council 
continues to enhance and strengthen its internal control environment. 
Systems exist to ensure compliance with policies and procedures, including 
statute and regulations. Internal Audit, through its annual risk based plan 
assesses compliance with key procedures and policies. 
 
The Council has an Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Commitment which is 
available on our website. This sets out the Council’s commitment to meeting 
all areas of the public sector equality duty and to ensure equality of 
opportunity, both as a provider and commissioner of services and as a large 
employer.  The commitment is implemented through setting equality 
objectives linked to the Council Plan. 
 
Progress is monitored and reported to the Cabinet Member (Policing & 
Equalities) and the latest progress reports are available on our website. In 
addition, the Council carries out Equality and Consultation Analysis on all key 
decisions taken by Cabinet or Cabinet Members.  
 
The Council’s Risk Management Strategy defines processes for identifying, 
assessing, managing and monitoring financial and operational risks. The 
Strategy recognises the need for risk registers at directorate and corporate 
level which are updated and reviewed regularly. The Council is looking for 
continuous improvement throughout the Council in the management of risks, 
and this is being monitored through the Strategic Management Board. 
 
The Council, through its Whistleblowing and Complaints Procedures, has 
documented processes in place to deal with concerns raised by both 
employees and members of the public. These policies have been widely 
communicated and are subject to regular review to ensure they are working 
effectively. In addition, the Council’s Fraud and Corruption Strategy reinforces 
the Council’s commitment to creating an anti-fraud culture, whilst having 
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effective arrangements in place in responding to allegations of fraud and 
corruption.    
  
An Audit and Procurement Committee provides independent assurance to the 
Council on various issues, including risk management and control and the 
effectiveness of the arrangements the Council has for these matters. The 
Committee's terms of reference were developed in conjunction with CIPFA 
guidance, and the Committee carries out a periodic self-assessment to 
measure its effectiveness, based on recommended CIPFA practice.  
 
For the financial year 2018-19, the Director of Finance and Corporate 
Services was the nominated Section 151 officer with the delegated 
responsibility for ensuring there are arrangements in place for proper 
administration of financial affairs. In assessing this role against the 
requirements stated in the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief 
Financial Officer in Local Government (2016), the Authority meets the five 
principles in the CIPFA Statement, namely: 
 
•   The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) in a local authority is a key member of 
the Leadership Team, helping it to develop and implement strategy and to 
resource and deliver the authority’s strategic objectives sustainably and in the 
public interest. 
 
•   The CFO in a local authority must be actively involved in, and able to bring 
influence to bear on, all material business decisions to ensure immediate and 
longer term implications, opportunities and risks are fully considered, and 
alignment with the authority’s overall financial strategy. 
 
•   The CFO in a local authority must lead the promotion and delivery by the 
whole authority of good financial management so that public money is 
safeguarded at all times and used appropriately, economically, efficiently, and 
effectively. 
 
•   The CFO in a local authority must lead and direct a finance function that is 
resourced to be fit for purpose. 
 
•   The CFO in a local authority must be professionally qualified and suitably 
experienced. 
 
The S151 Officer is a key member of the Corporate Leadership Team and 
formally retains a direct reporting line to the Chief Executive when required.  

The S151 Officer routinely attends and advises the Strategic Management 
Board of the Council (Chief Executive and both Deputy Chief Executives).  
 
The assessment concluded that these arrangements provide an appropriate 
framework under which the CIPFA principles are able to be delivered. The 
senior management structure within the Council is regularly reviewed and 
changes made as required to help the management team focus on the current 
challenges and opportunities as well as to look ahead. 
 
The Annual Governance Statement also includes a review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control within group activities, where 
the Council is in a relationship with another entity to undertake significant 
activities. The following describes the group activities for the year ended 31st 
March 2019:  
 

• The Coventry and Solihull Waste Disposal Company Limited is owned jointly 
by Coventry City Council, Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council, 
Warwickshire County Council and Leicestershire County Council. A formal 
agreement sets out the governance arrangements between the shareholders. 
The Company is subject to the Industrial Emissions Directive and the 
conditions of its Environmental Permit issued by the Environment Agency. 
Furthermore, the Company monitors its activities through an Environmental 
Management System accredited to the ISO 14001 standard, its Health and 
Safety Management System which is certified to the OHSAS 18001 standard 
and the Cyber Essentials accreditation it has achieved for its IT systems. The 
Company has appointed Ernst & Young LLP as its external auditors. The last 
published Annual Report and Financial Statements, for the year ended 31st 
March 2018, did not highlight any concerns. 
 

• North Coventry Holdings (NCH) Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Council. All the Directors of the Company are senior officers of Coventry City 
Council.  All transactions are processed using the Council’s financial systems 
and such activities are subject to an annual audit by the Council’s Internal 
Audit Service.  The Company has LDP Luckmans as its external auditors. 
There was an unqualified audit opinion for the last published Annual Report 
and Accounts, for the year ended 31st March 2018. The company's main 
purpose is to hold shares in Coventry North Regeneration Limited, although it 
is also engaged in providing business development services to the City 
Council.   
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• Coventry North Regeneration (CNR) Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary 
of NCH Limited. The main activity of the Company was the construction of the 
Ricoh Arena. All of the Directors of the Company are also senior officers of 
Coventry City Council. All transactions are processed using the Council's 
financial systems and such activities are subject to an annual audit by the 
Council's Internal Audit Service. The Company has LDP Luckmans as its 
external auditors. There was an unqualified audit opinion for the last 
published Annual Report and Accounts, for the year ended 31st March 2018. 
 

• Coombe Abbey Park Limited (CAPL) is a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Council, which acquired 100% of the ordinary share capital of the company in 
December 2017. Three of the four Directors of the Company during 2018/19 
are senior officers of Coventry City Council.   As part of the original 
acquisition, the Council secured external independent advice from a number 
of sources to support the financial and legal due diligence assessment, as 
well as the valuation of the shares being purchased. The due diligence work 
highlighted some areas of financial control weaknesses, which it was felt that 
the Council would need to address following acquisition. In particular, a need 
to strengthen the finance function through increased capacity was recognised 
as important. In the light of the external due diligence, since the Council 
acquired CAPL, a programme of changes has been completed, including the 
restructuring of the Board, as well as recruitment of a new senior Operations 
Manager and finance staff. The Company has appointed RSM UK Audit LLP 
as its external auditors. The last published Annual Report and Financial 
Statements, for the year ended 31st March 2018, did not highlight any 
significant concerns. 
 

• The UK Battery Industrialisation Centre Ltd was incorporated on 27th 
February 2018 and the Council is currently the sole shareholder with 1 share 
which has a nominal value of £1. The purpose of the company is to run the 
proposed National Battery Development Facility which is currently under 
construction. The Council has appointed two of its officers as directors on the 
board.  The company will ultimately become a Joint Venture Private Limited 
Company with the Warwick Manufacturing Group and Coventry & 
Warwickshire Local Enterprise Partnership each appointing two directors. The 
City Council is initially purchasing all land and equipment in relation to the 
facility with funding coming from Innovate UK which is a Government backed 
agency. As a result, activity within the company has been minimal to date. 

 

• The Friargate Joint Venture Project Ltd was incorporated on 17th December 
2018. This is a 50/50 joint venture with Friargate Holdings 2 Limited, 

established to develop new buildings within the Friargate district of the city. 
Each of, Coventry City Council and Friargate Holdings 2 Ltd have been 
issued 1 Ordinary Share for a value of £10m each. The Council has appointed 
three of its officers as directors of the board. The company is still very much in 
its infancy and as a result, activity within the company has been minimal to 
date. 
 
 
Review of effectiveness  

Processes are in place to assess key elements of the governance framework 
throughout the year, for example, through the work of Internal Audit and the 
Council’s Audit and Procurement Committee. A review of the effectiveness of 
its governance framework is also undertaken annually as part of the 
production of the Annual Governance Statement. This is informed by the work 
of senior managers within the authority, who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the governance environment, the Chief 
Internal Auditor’s opinion on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of 
Coventry City Council's internal control environment, and also by comments 
made by the external auditors and other review agencies and inspectorates.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Arrangements to assess the effectiveness of the governance framework 
include: 
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•   Regular and detailed monitoring of the Council's performance, by both 
Strategic Management Board and Members against targets and objectives set 
out in the Council’s Plan.  
 
•   Regular meetings of the Council’s Governance Steering Board to consider 
on-going and emerging governance issues and co-ordinate actions required.  
Updates on this work are provided to Strategic Management Board every 
month.  
  
•   Consideration of ethical governance matters by the Ethics Committee, 
including reflecting on national governance failings to identify if there are any 
lessons learnt for the Council to take forward. 
 
 •   On-going reviews of the Council's Constitution, overseen by the 
Constitution Advisory Panel and subject to approval by Full Council. These 
reviews include areas such as standing orders, financial procedures and the 
scheme of delegation.  
 
•   Regular reviews of the Council's strategies and procedures to ensure they 
continue to reflect the needs of the Council. 
 
• An annual review against the principles and best practice set out in the 
Code of Corporate Governance and which is used to identify improvements to 
strengthen the Council’s governance arrangements.  
 
 
The review of effectiveness has also been informed by:  
 
•   Reports from the external auditors and other inspection agencies.  
 
•   An annual assessment of the adequacy of internal controls/governance 
arrangements by each Deputy Chief Executive. 
 
• The Council’s Corporate Risk Register. 
 
•   The work of the Internal Audit Service during 2018-19. The Service works 
to a risk based audit plan, which is approved annually by the Council's Audit 
and Procurement Committee. An annual report is also produced and 
presented to the Committee. The report identifies those issues, which in the 
opinion of the Chief Internal Auditor, should be considered when producing 
the Annual Governance Statement.  

 
We have been advised on the implications of the result of the review of the 
effectiveness of the governance framework by the Audit and Procurement 
Committee, and can provide reasonable assurance that the arrangements 
continue to be regarded as fit for purpose in accordance with the governance 
framework and that a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous 
improvement of the system is in place.
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Significant governance issues

Table one below provides an update on the governance issues that were raised in the 2017-18 Annual Governance Statement.  
 
Table One 

 

Ref Governance issues 
identified in 2017-
18 

2018-19 Update 
 

1 Sustainable 
improvement in 
children’s services  

The Improvement Board has continued to meet to challenge and hold the Council to account for the 
effective improvement and delivery of Children’s Services. A comprehensive transformation 
programme is underway that will yield longer term and sustainable improvement to Children’s 
Services.  This has included the development of a stronger early help offer that expects partners to 
contribute to, a strengthening of the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub and a restructure that better 
supports the child’s experience and journey through the system.  Other improvements have included 
a better placement mix for looked after children and this is supporting more effective and sustainable 
budget management.  Demand pressures remain that make this extremely challenging. 
 

2 Ensuring delivery of 
the Council’s vision 
and corporate 
objectives, in line 
with the Medium 
Term Financial 
Strategy  
 

The Council has set a balanced budget despite shortfalls in the delivery of some savings targets and 
the emergence of new expenditure pressures in areas including housing and homelessness and waste 
disposal. The new proposals to balance the budget involve some technical measures and the 
identification of income streams and a more commercial approach across some areas of the Council. 
 

3 The delivery of the 
Kickstart programme 
– the Council’s plan 
for making savings, 
supporting city 
centre regeneration 
including business 
rate growth and 
rationalising its office 
estate 

Following the completion of Friargate in October 2016 and the successful migration of staff, the 
Kickstart programme has been completed.  All the associated capital disposals have been completed, 
savings achieved and new ways of working embraced. City centre regeneration continues at pace, 
which will drive future business rates. As the governance of this is now under a different work-stream 
(and is identified as a separate issue in the statement), the Kickstart Programme has not been carried 
forward as a significant governance issue for 2019-20. 

4 Raising educational 
standards  

Evaluation of Primary Networks and Secondary Collaboratives evidences increased capacity for 
school-to school support and continued school improvement. As of December 2018, Coventry’s Ofsted 
profile (i.e. the proportion of pupils attending good or outstanding provision) was above national and 
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statistical neighbours for primary, secondary and special. In 2018 other notable improvements 
included: 

• Upward trend for Early Years Foundation Stage and Year 1 phonics 

• Improvement in Key Stage 2 results, specifically attainment, including for disadvantaged and 
Special Educational Need support 

• Upward trend and improvements at a faster rate than national for almost all Key Stage 4 indicators, 
including for pupils with an Education, Health and Care Plan and White British boys 

• Coventry NEET (not in education, employment or training) rate below (better than) national. 
 

5 Implementation of 
the Information 
Management 
Strategy 

The actions in the plan arising from the Information Commissioner’s Office audit continued to be 
implemented during the year and progress was reported to the Audit and Procurement Committee in 
February 2019. The Training Strategy was approved and implemented. 
  

6 Long term 
sustainability of adult 
social care in the 
context of financial 
and demand issues 
 

Coventry Adult Social Care remains a comparatively low spend per 100k population although is 
challenged by increasing care costs, and increasing referrals. However, the numbers of people 
supported overall remains relatively stable.  Our approach to short term services and using the 
voluntary sector helps reduce the numbers of people entering ongoing care and support.  The Council 
is currently reliant on the Better Care Fund to support financial pressures in social care and reduce 
the impact on health associated with social care and work with our colleagues in the Clinical 
Commissioning Group flexibly in order to achieve short term sustainability, with long term issues of 
sustainability being subject to the spending review and local government settlement later in 2019.  The 
Adult Social Care green paper has been further delayed so the government’s long term policy direction 
and possible funding solutions are also unclear.  The social care precept supports the ongoing 
financial position but with Adult Social Care being the single biggest Council cost further financial 
pressure is to be expected. From a governance perspective, as this is intrinsically linked to delivery of 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy, this has not been carried forward as a stand-alone issue for 
2019-20.  
 

7 Delivery of the 
workforce strategy 

The Council has made progress in relation to the delivery of its 2017-2020 workforce strategy: 
Planning – The development and enhancement of robust management information (HR analytics), to 
inform strategic decision making and to track progress has been embedded over 2018/19. 
Supporting – The 2018 staff engagement survey has provided the Council with a range of 
improvement areas to develop a more supportive offer for all of our employees, which has helped 
inform the One Coventry approach, Year of Wellbeing, our Organisational Development programme 
for 2019/20 as well as the Let’s Talk sessions between Senior Management Board and the wider 
workforce.  Good progress is being made in the implementation of the Council appraisal system.  The 
Council has re-launched its commitment to Equality, Diversity & Inclusion. 
Enabling – The Council, through the implementation of tools such as SKYPE for Business continues 
to support staff to work more flexibly and more effectively.  A new digital training package and 
additional resource has also been implemented to increase digital skill levels across the Council. 
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Transforming – The Council’s Our Future Workforce programme (formally Workforce Reform) seeks 
to modernise our terms, conditions and culture.  Progress has been challenging and will be a key area 
of focus for 2019/20 across the Council. 
Oversight and strategic leadership of this area has been recently strengthened with the establishment 
and successful recruitment to a Director of Human Resources post reporting in to the Senior 
Management Board. 

8 Establishing a 
Counter Fraud 
Framework 

A new Fraud and Corruption Strategy, including the Counter Fraud Framework was considered by the 
Audit and Procurement Committee in June 2018 and approved by the Cabinet Member for Policy and 
Leadership in July 2018. The actions linked to the various elements of the framework are now part of 
operational activity within Internal Audit.   Oversight of this work is provided by the Audit and 
Procurement Committee as part of their role to monitor the Fraud and Corruption Strategy. 
Consequently, as the Counter Fraud Framework has now been established and forms part of the 
annual programme of work undertaken by Internal Audit, this has not been carried forward as a 
significant governance issue for 2019-20. 
 

9 Risk Management 
Strategy  

The Risk Management Policy and Strategy were formally adopted in 2017-18. The process for 
identifying and reporting on Corporate Risks is well established and oversight of the Corporate Risk 
Register is provided by the Audit and Procurement Committee.  During 2018-19 actions were taken to 
embed risk management practice in the organisation. Risk Registers are in place for each Director’s 
area of operation and are reviewed at Leadership Team meetings on a regular basis. As a result, this 
has not been carried forward as a significant governance issue for 2019-20. 
 

10 Governance 
Steering Board  

The Governance Steering Board was established in September 2018.   The Board (which is chaired 
by the Council’s Monitoring Officer and includes members from Procurement, Finance, Human 
Resources, Internal Audit and Governance Services) meets on a regular basis to review the 
effectiveness of the governance framework throughout the year, help raise the profile of governance 
across the Council and co-ordinate improvement actions.  Updates on this work are provided to the 
Strategic Management Board every month.   As the Board is now embedded within the overall 
governance framework of the Council, this has not been carried forward as a significant governance 
issue for 2019-20.   
 

11 Delivery of the ICT 
Strategy  

Significant progress has been made during 2018/19 with regards to the delivery of the ICT Strategy. 
The Council have significantly increased the capacity of the ICT Security team and also introduced 
new cyber security toolsets to help protect our estate. The Council have undertaken a major 
restructure of the ICT & Digital service to introduce new senior management roles which will directly 
support the ongoing development and delivery of the ICT Strategy.  Significant improvements have 
also been made to our unified communications platform to enable a more flexible and effective 
workforce.   Two digital trainers have been introduced to the service who are taking responsibility for 
digital skills development across the organisation through our “DigiKnow” brand. In terms of the 
development of a revised ICT Strategy, the ICT service have engaged with the Corporate Leadership 
Team, Finance, and Corporate Services Scrutiny Board who have given direct input into how the 
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Strategy is taking shape. The Council are also continuing to engage Gartner for external input and 
verification to the Strategy and approach.  
 

12 Management of 
increasing demand 
in relation to 
homelessness and 
the associated costs 
of housing families in 
temporary 
accommodation 

The Council has made a significant investment into its housing service, which is specifically tasked to 
tackle the city’s homelessness.  A refreshed Housing and Homeless Strategy was adopted by Council 
in late 2018/19 which focuses on prevention, supporting homeless households, improving existing 
accommodation and increasing housing supply.  The Strategy also aims to reduce the existing 
financial pressure by 2020/21.  A number of key appointments and new roles have been made to 
increase the Council’s capacity and capability to address the significant issues.  The action plan to 
deliver the improvements is led by the Chief Executive at the Strategic Housing Board. 
 

 
 
The Council is seeking to continuously enhance its management arrangements to improve service delivery, efficiency and value for money, whilst achieving its 
objectives.  The review of effectiveness has informed identification of the following key challenges for 2018-19 (table two), along with the actions planned to 
address these matters to further enhance our governance arrangements. 
 
Table Two 
 

Ref Governance 
Issue 

Planned actions 2019-20 Responsibility Timescale 

1 Sustainable 
improvement in 
Children’s 
Services 

A new Executive Improvement Board has been 
established to drive forward continuous improvement 
of Children’s Services. A new Children’s Safeguarding 
Partnership is due to be launched later in the year in 
line with revised statutory guidance. A review of the re-
design has been concluded and small service changes 
will be made this year in response.  A further phase of 
transformational activity will commence to support 
further improvement activity. Service Performance 
reviews will be implemented service wide and Quality 
Assurance visits by Children’s Services Leadership 
Team will commence. 
 

Director of Children’s 
Services  

On-going 

2 Ensuring 
delivery of the 
Council’s vision 
and corporate 
objectives, in 
line with the 
Medium Term 

The Council faces uncertainty due to anticipated 
changes in the Local Government finance system and 
a lack of clarity on the future of some major income 
streams such as Better Care Fund resources. Initial 
estimates indicate a significant financial gap and work 
has begun at an early stage to identify a range of 
options to enable the Council to respond to the 

Director of Finance 
and Corporate 
Services  

February 2020 
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Financial 
Strategy  
 

possible range of budget scenarios. Members will 
receive regular briefings on potential new areas of 
policy development and these will be formally reported 
to Cabinet Members, Cabinet and Council as 
appropriate.   
 

3 Raising 
educational 
standards 

Continue to improve outcomes for ALL pupils, 
including pupils with an Education, Health and Care 
Plan (EHCP) and receiving Special Educational Needs 
(SEN) support, so they are in line with or better than 
national by ensuring that individual school, Primary 
Network and Secondary Collaborative priorities align 
with and contribute to specific citywide priorities: 
Early Years: Improving Good Level of Development 
(GLD) 
Primary:  
Increasing the proportion of children achieving Greater 
Depth in Writing and making accelerated progress in 
writing by the end of Key Stage 2 
Secondary and 16-18:  

• Improving Progress 8 

• Improving progress in both English and Maths by 
the end of 16-18 (GCSE resits) 

All phases: Narrowing the gap to national for our 
vulnerable groups: 

• GLD for all groups 

• Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2 achievement for 
children with SEN and an EHCP 

• Key Stage 4 progress for disadvantaged and 
pupils receiving SEN support 

 

Director of Education 
and Skills  
 
Head of Education 
Improvement and 
Standards 0-19 
 
Senior Adviser 
Education 
Improvement 11-19 
(25) 

On-going 

4 Implementation 
of the 
Information 
Management 
Strategy 

Review and update of Information Management 
Strategy and Information Management Training 
Strategy. 
 

Head of Information 
Governance  

March 2020 

5 Delivery of the 
Workforce 
Strategy 

During 2019/20 the following actions are planned: 

• The further development and implementation of the 
workforce strategy to embed the Council’s One 
Coventry approach  

Director of Housing 
and Transformation  
 
(Responsibility will 
transfer to the Director 

On-going 
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• The launch of a new Equality, Diversity & Inclusion 
project focusing on recruitment and selection 

• A focus on ensuring that our case work is improved 
and timely 

•  The progression of ‘Our Future Workforce’ change 
programme 

• Creating opportunities for talent mapping and 
career progressions at all levels across the 
organisation 

• Improved Employee Engagement which can be 
measured through job satisfaction 

• Continued development of industrial relations 

•  Improvement in digital skills across the workforce 

•  The continuation of ensuring the safety and 
wellbeing of our employees. 

 

of Human Resources 
once in post in July 
2019) 

6 Delivery of the 
ICT Strategy 

During 2019/20 the Council will publish an updated ICT 
Strategy which will continue to provide assurance with 
regards to our core infrastructure, cyber security plans 
and digital skills development whilst also supporting 
innovation and our digitalisation agenda. The ICT 
Strategy will align with the One Coventry approach. 
 

Head of ICT & Digital  September 2019 
 
(delivery of the 
Strategy will be on-
going)  

7 Management of 
increasing 
demand in 
relation to 
homelessness 
and the 
associated 
costs of 
housing 
families in 
temporary 
accommodation 

To deliver to the Housing and Homelessness Strategy 
and the agreed action plan through the Council’s 
Strategic Housing Board. 
 

Director of Housing 
and Transformation  

On-going 

8 Corporate data 
access 
standard 

Development and implementation of a corporate 
access standard and protocol for all systems that hold 
personal data.  
 
 

Members and 
Elections Team 
Manager  

December 2019 
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9 Governance 
over 
relationships 
with partners 
and outside 
bodies 

The Council has a strong foundation of partnership 
working, which was positively recognised in our recent 
Local Government Association (LGA) Corporate Peer 
Challenge. This has included our pivotal involvement 
in forming the West Midlands Combined Authority, the 
Place Forum and the Coventry and Warwickshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership.  However, it is 
recognised that in order to continue to respond to 
challenges and to adapt to new approaches in terms 
of the role of the local authority in the community, the 
Council needs to ensure that there are effective 
arrangements over its relationships with partners and 
outside bodies which provide governance and 
flexibility to deliver effective outcomes.  Partnership 
working principles have been established and work is 
planned in 2019/20 to develop protocols to underpin 
this.  These will be used to gain assurance that key 
relationships, such as with the City of Culture Trust and 
the Friargate Joint Venture are being appropriately 
governed.  In addition, a People Partnership is in its 
early stages of implementation with a focus on 
strengthening partnership arrangements across the 
City and working together to improve collaboration and 
connectivity in spirit of our One Coventry approach. 
 

Deputy Chief 
Executive (People) 

On-going  

10 Governance 
over the 
programme of 
capital projects 

The Council has an ambitious programme of capital 
projects, which in 2019/20 will continue to accelerate 
in advance of the Council becoming City of Culture in 
2021. Whilst providing ongoing regeneration and 
redevelopment of the city and supporting business rate 
growth, the scale of the programme requires robust 
governance and strategic control to ensure that the 
programme is delivered successfully. Governance 
arrangements are established with delivery overseen 
by project boards who report to the responsible cabinet 
members via established briefing and reporting 
mechanisms.  Governance is also provided via the City 
of Culture Readiness Board and the Place Programme 
Delivery Board.  In 2019/20 the focus will be on 
ensuring that as the programme continues to move at 
pace, governance arrangements remain embedded 

Deputy Chief 
Executive (Place)  

On-going  
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and integral to programme delivery whilst also 
ensuring that there are effective processes in place to 
maintain a view of the overall programme, so its inter-
dependencies are managed / joined up, maintaining 
momentum on the Council’s wider aspirations. 
 

 
We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for improvements that were identified in our review and we will monitor their implementation and 
operation, as part of our next annual review. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cllr George Duggins       Martin Reeves  
Leader of Coventry City Council      Chief Executive of Coventry City Council      
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2 Main Financial Statements 
  

2.1 Overview of Main Financial Statements 
 
The Statement of Accounts includes the following 
core financial statements prepared in line with 
IFRS.  
 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 
Statement CIES (sections 2.2 & 4.2) 
 
This statement shows the accounting cost in the 
year of providing services in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices, rather 
than the amount to be funded from taxation. 
Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in 
accordance with statutory requirements; this may 
be different from the accounting cost. The taxation 
position is shown in both the Expenditure and 
Funding Analysis (section 3.2) and the Movement 
in Reserves Statement. 
  
The Movement in Reserves Statement (sections 
2.3 & 4.3) 
 
This statement shows the movement from the start 
of the year to the end on the different reserves 
held by the authority, analysed into ‘usable 
reserves’ (i.e. those that can be applied to fund 
expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other 
‘unusable reserves’. The Movement in Reserves 
Statement shows how the movements in year of 
the authority’s reserves are broken down between 
gains and losses incurred in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices and the 
statutory adjustments required to return to the 

amounts chargeable to council tax for the year. 
The Net Increase/Decrease line shows the 
statutory General Fund Balance movements in the 
year following these adjustments. Changes have 
been made to improve and simplify the 
presentation to the Movement in Reserves 
Statement in accordance with recommendations in 
the Code of Practice. Details of the movements in 
useable revenue reserves are provided within 
section 3.13. 
 
Balance Sheet (sections 2.4 & 4.4) 
 
The Balance Sheet shows the value, as at the 
Balance Sheet date, of the assets and liabilities 
recognised by the authority. The net assets of the 
authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by 
the reserves held by the authority. Reserves are 
reported in two categories. The first category of 
reserves are usable reserves, i.e. those reserves 
that the authority may use to provide services, 
subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of 
reserves and any statutory limitations on their use 
(for example the Capital Receipts Reserves that 
may only be used to fund capital expenditure or 
repay debt). The second category of reserves are 
those that the authority is not able to use to 
provide services. This category of reserves 
includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and 
losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve) 
where amounts would only become available to 
provide services if the assets are sold and 

reserves that hold timing differences shown in the 
Movement of Reserves Statement line  
‘Adjustments between accounting  basis and 
funding basis under regulations’. 
 
Cash Flow Statement (sections 2.5 & 4.5) 
 
The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in 
cash and cash equivalents of the authority during 
the reporting period. The statement shows how 
the authority generates and uses cash and cash 
equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, 
investing and financing activities. The amount of 
net cash flows arising from operating activities is a 
key indicator of the extent to which the operations 
of the authority are funded by way of taxation and 
grant income or from the receipts of services 
provided by the authority. Investing activities 
represent the extent to which cash outflows have 
been made for resources which are intended to 
contribute to the authority’s future service delivery. 
Cash flows arising from financing activities are 
useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by 
providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the 
authority.  
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2.2 Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement 
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2.3 Movement in Reserves Statement 
 
Usable Reserves and Overall Position 2018/19 

 

Unusable Reserves 2018/19 

 
 
Section 3.13 presents further details of the movements in usable and unusable reserves.  
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Usable Reserves and Overall Position 2017/18 Comparatives. 

  

 
 
Unusable Reserves 2017/18 Comparatives 
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2.4 Balance Sheet 
 

 
 
The unaudited accounts were authorised for issue on 24th May 2019 and the audited accounts were authorised for issue on 2 September 2019. 
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2.5 Cash Flow Statement 
 

 
 
 
Section 3.27 presents an analysis of the amounts included in the provision of services for non-cash movements and items included in investing and financing 
activities. 
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3 Notes to the Main Financial Statements 

3.1 Note to the CIES 
 

 
 
*The 2018/19 ‘Loss on Disposal of Fixed Assets’ includes £17,818k of derecognition as a result of schools transferring to academy status during the year. The equivalent figure 
for 2017/18 was £23,079. 
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3.2 Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
The objective of the Expenditure and Funding Analysis is to demonstrate how the funding available to the authority (i.e. government grants, council tax and 
business rates) for the year has been used in providing services in comparison with those resources consumed or earned by authorities in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting practices. The Expenditure and Funding Analysis also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes 
between the Council’s directorates. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (see section 2.2).   
 

 
 

  



 

38 

3.3 Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
This note provides a breakdown of the adjustments from the General Fund to arrive at the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement amounts 
 

 
 

 
Note 1: Adjustments for Capital Purposes – This 
column adds in depreciation and revaluation gains 
and losses on the services line, and includes 
adjustments for the following: 
Capital disposals with a transfer of income on 
disposal of assets and the amounts written off for 
those assets.  
Financing and investment income and expenditure 
- the statutory charges for capital financing i.e. 
Minimum Revenue Provision and other revenue 
contributions are deducted from other income and 

expenditure as these are not chargeable under 
generally accepted accounting practices.  
Capital grant income and expenditure - these are 
adjusted for income not chargeable under 
generally accepted accounting practices 
 
Note 2: Net change for the removal of pension 
contributions and the addition of IAS 19 Employee 
Benefits pension related expenditure and income.  
This represents the removal of the employer 
pension contributions made by the authority as 

allowed by statute and the replacement with 
current and past service costs.  
 
Note 3: Other differences between amounts 
debited/credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement and amounts 
payable/receivable to be recognised under statute: 
For Financing and investment income and 
expenditure the other differences column 
recognises adjustments to the General Fund for 
the timing differences for premiums and discounts.  
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The charge under Taxation and non-specific grant 
income and expenditure represents the difference 
between what is chargeable under statutory 

regulations for council tax and NDR that was 
projected to be received at the start of the year 

and the income recognised under generally 
accepted accounting practices. 
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3.4 Revenue Outturn 
 

The following tables provide a reconciliation between the revenue outturn position reported to management and the first column of the Expenditure and Funding 
Analysis tables in section 3.2. 
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3.5 Segmental Analysis 
 
This note provides an analysis of income by segment and details of the revenue outturn position. These figures exclude the impact of internal recharges. 
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3.6 Income and Expenditure Analysis 
 
This note provides an analysis of the income received and expenditure incurred within the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. These figures exclude the impact of internal recharges and the 2017/18 figures have been restated to reflect this treatment. 
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3.7 Analysis of Capital Grants 
 

 
 
 
The Capital Grant total of £79,665k is the amount of grant applied during 2018/19. This represents the total level of grant received of £74,380k plus £5,285k 
which has been transferred from the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve (see section 2.3). In addition the Council's Balance Sheet (as at 31/03/2019) reflects 
Capital Grants received in advance of £8,256k 
 
*The significant increase in the grant from Innovate UK was due to £28.8m being received for the new Battery Plant facility 
 
 
 
 
 



 

44 

3.8 Analysis of Revenue Grants 
 
The following table provides an analysis of revenue grant income, separately identifying all grants with a value above £2m. 
 

 
 
*The difference between the level of Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) provided in this table and the amount provided within Deployment of Dedicated Schools 
Grant note (section 3.9) is due to adjustments agreed with the Department for Education. 
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3.9 Deployment of Dedicated Schools Grant 
 
The Council's expenditure on schools is funded 
primarily by grant monies provided by the 
Education Funding Agency, the Dedicated Schools 
Grant (DSG). DSG is ringfenced and can only be 
applied to meet expenditure properly included in 

the Schools Budget, as defined in the school 
Finance and Early Years (England) regulations 
2017.  The Schools Budget includes elements for 
a range of educational services provided on an 
authority-wide basis and for the Individual Schools 

Budget, which is divided into a budget share for 
each maintained school.  
 
Details of the deployment of DSG receivable for 
2018/19 are as follows: 

 
 

 
Notes 
A: Final DSG figure before any amount has been 
recouped from the authority excluding the January 
2019 early years block adjustment. 
 
B: Figure recouped from the authority in 2018/19 
by the DfE for the conversion of maintained 
schools into Academies. 
 

C: Total figure after EFA Academy recoupment for 
2018/19 
 
D: Figure brought forward from 2017/18 should be 
as agreed with the Department. Details of the 
exercise to obtain this agreement were contained 
in the Financial Monitoring Team's e-mail 
circulated in May 2019. 
 

E: Any amount which the authority decided after 
consultation with the schools forum to carry 
forward to 2019/20 rather than distribute in 
2018/19.  
 
F: Budgeted distribution of DSG, adjusted for carry 
forward, as agreed with the schools forum.  
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G: Changes to the initial distribution, for example, 
adjustments for exclusions, or final early years 
block adjustment. 
 
H: Budgeted distribution of DSG as at the end of 
the financial year. 
 
I: Actual amount of central expenditure items in 
2018/19 - amounts not actually spent. 
 
J: Amount of ISB actually distributed to schools 
(ISB is regarded for DSG purposes as spent by 

the authority once it is deployed to schools' budget 
shares). 
 
K: Any contribution from the local authority in 
2018/19 which will have the effect of substituting 
for DSG in funding the Schools Budget. 
 
L: Carry forward to 2019/20, ie: 
 
- For central expenditure, difference between 
budgeted distribution of DSG and actual 
expenditure, plus any local authority contribution. 

 
- For ISB, difference between final budgeted 
distribution and amount actually deployed to 
schools, plus any local authority contribution. 
 
- Total is carry-forward on central expenditure plus 
carry-forward on ISB plus/minus any carry-forward 
to 2019/20 already agreed. 
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3.10 Related Party Transactions 
 
The authority is required to disclose material 
transactions with related parties – bodies or 
individuals that have the potential to control or 
influence the Council or to be controlled or 
influenced by the council. Transactions with 
related parties are disclosed to allow users of the 
financial statements to judge their impact on the 
accounts. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive (Place) is also the 
Chief Executive of the Coventry and Warwickshire 
Local Enterprise Partnership (CWLEP) and a 
senior officer is seconded to the role of Operations 
Director at the same organisation. A member of 
Coventry City Council is on the board of CWLEP.  
CWLEP was given grants of £1,024,951, and the 
Council received £15,000 in 2018/19. CWLEP is a 
company limited by guarantee and aims to co-
ordinate public and private sector partners to 
develop the economy and increase prosperity. The 
LEP also has a role in coordinating elements of 
government funding for growth.  
 
Members 

Members of the council have direct control over 
the council’s financial and operating policies. The 
total of members’ allowances is shown in note 
3.33. During 2018/19, works and services to the 
value of £804,536 were commissioned from 
organisations that 18 members had an interest in 
(most of which are not for profit). Contracts were 
entered into in full compliance with the council’s 
standing orders.  In addition, the Council paid 
grants totalling £3,931,090 to voluntary 
organisations in which 13 members had an 
interest.  In all instances, the grants were made 
with proper consideration to declarations of 
interest. Individual members’ declarations of 
interest are available on the City Councils website. 

The sum of £703,784 was received from 

organisations with which 17 members declared an 

interest. There was a debtors balance of £234,127 

with companies in which 18 members declared an 

interest; and a creditors balance of £200,895 in 

which 15 members declared an interest. 

Individual Members’ declaration of interest forms 

are available on the City Council’s website. 

Senior Officers 

In addition, during 2018/19, works and services to 
the value of £43,903 were commissioned from 
companies that 2 senior officers had an interest. 
Grants to the value of £792,621 were made to 
voluntary bodies in which 2 senior officers had an 
interest. Contracts were entered into in full 
compliance with the Council’s standing orders. In 
all instances, the payments were made with proper 
consideration to declarations of interest. The sum 
of £661,469 was received from organisations with 
which 2 senior officers declared an interest. There 
was a debtors balance of £78,724 with companies 
in which 2 senior officers declared an interest; and 
a creditors balance of £276,429 in which 2 senior 
officer declared an interest. 
 
 
Central Government 
 
Central Government has significant influence over 
the general operations of the authority – it is 
responsible for providing the statutory framework 
within which the authority operates, provides the 
majority of its funding in the form of grants, and 
prescribes the terms of many transactions that the 
authority has with other parties. Details of the main 
transactions between the Council and Government 
departments are set out in the Comprehensive 
Income and expenditure Statement (section 2.2). 

Other Public Bodies 
 
The Authority has transactions with a range of 
other organisations and public bodies reported 
elsewhere in the accounts. 
 

• Pension payments are made to the West 

Midlands Metropolitan Authorities Pension 

Fund, The Teachers’ Pension Agency and 

the NHS Business Service Authority. 

Further details are included in section 

3.30. 

• Precept payments are made to the West 

Midlands Crime and Police Commissioner 

and the West Midlands Fire Authority, and 

these are shown within the Collection fund 

Income and Expenditure Statements 

(Section 3.38). 

• Levy payments are made Environment 

Agency. 

• Payments to the West Midlands Combined 

Authority of £15,955,209, of which 

£15,177,290 was a levy, and other 

contributions totalling £777,919. We 

received income of £12,500 and Capital 

grants which are detailed in Section 3.7. 

• The authority has a pooled budget 

arrangement with Coventry and Rugby 

Clinical Commissioning group to operate a 

Better Care Fund (BCF). Transactions and 

balances are detailed in section 3.11. 
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Organisations Controlled or Significantly 
Influenced by the Council 

The Council has a combination of:  financial 
interests (shareholdings), representation at board 
of director level and significant financial influence 
in a number of companies. Details of transactions 
with those companies are as follows; 
 
 
Coventry & Solihull Waste Disposal Company 
(CSWDC) 

CSWDC is a company set up by Coventry City 
Council and Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council 
for the disposal of waste arising from the two 
authorities. During the year, the Council made 
payments of £7,485,109 to the company for 
services received and in return provided services 
to the value of £111,297 of which £18,656 was 
unpaid as at 31st March 2019. 
 
In addition, the Council received Business Rates 
payments of £625,635 and dividends of 
£7,040,052 
 
Coventry North Regeneration Ltd (CNR) and 
North Coventry Holdings Ltd (NCH) 

There remains a balance outstanding of £5,000 on 
the cash flow assistance loan provided by the City 
Council to CNR. CNR receives contributions from 
the City Council to cover its expenses. In 2018/19 
the total was £4,963 of which £2,800 related to 
administrative services provided by the City 
Council. 
 
During 2018/19 NCH placed a cash deposit of 
£2,700,000 with the City Council. This was repaid 
to NCH including interest of £19,722 in March 
2019. NCH supplied services to the City Council to 
the value of £191,206. The City Council provided 
services to the value of £7,312. 

 
Culture Coventry Ltd 

Payment of £1,527,811 was made to Culture 
Coventry Trust on a long term arrangement for the 
provision of museum and tourist information 
services on behalf of the authority. In addition, the 
authority provided;  

• Services to the Trust totalling £69,135 of 
which £2,457 was unpaid as at 31st March 
2019.  

• A revolving cash flow facility of £600k of 
which £62,953 was repaid this year 
leaving £199,224 outstanding. 

• Contributions to restructure, exit and 
redundancy costs of £110,555. 

 
The Trust paid the City Council 

• £200,173 to cover part of their pension 
deficit 

• £23,800 in interest in respect of the 
revolving cash flow facility 

 
The Trust is deemed to be influenced by the 
Council due to its reliance on significant Council 
funding. 
 
Coombe Abbey Park Ltd  (CAPL) 
 
CAPL paid the City Council £850,403 in respect of 
rent on long lease agreements and £733,530 in 
respect of loan repayments. 
 
The City Council provided services to CAPL 
totalling £77,492 of which £13,582 was unpaid as 
at 31st March 2019.  The City Council also 
provided further a loan facility of £732,000. 
 
CAPL provided services to the City Council 
totalling £73,741 
 
 

 
UK Battery Industrialisation Centre UK Ltd 
(UKBIC) 
 
The City Council paid UKBIC £578,846 towards 
running costs. 
 
Friargate JV Project Ltd 
 
The City Council paid £494,750 to cover it’s share 
of a Stamp Duty Land Tax liability. 

.
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3.11 Pooled Budgets 
 
Better Care Fund 

Coventry City Council and Coventry and Rugby Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) drew up an agreement to operate a Better Care Fund (BCF) pooled 
budget from 1st April 2015.  This was established under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006 with the purpose of further integrating the health and social care 
services within Coventry.  
 
There are 14 separate work-streams within the BCF pooled budget arrangements. These work-streams, together with the respective contributions from the two 
partner organisations and an analysis of the expenditure made by the City Council, are outlined in the table below. The City Council's expenditure is analysed 
according to the nature of the resourcing and decision making involved. 

  
 
1 - This is where resources are controlled and expended by City Council. 
2 - The City Council acts as lead commissioner and accounts for expenditure with service providers. 
3 - Resources are pooled and the City Council and CCG account for their share of the expenditure as a joint operation in line with the Section 75 agreement.  
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The following table provides details of the BCF contributions and expenditure for the previous year, for comparative purposes.  
 

 
 
The following table provides details of the total contribution and expenditure made by the two partner organisations during 2018/19, with comparative 
information for the previous year. 
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The BCF agreement also specified the rules governing the allocation of any surpluses or deficits at year end. The details for the position as at 31st March 2019 
are outlined in the following table, together with the position as at 31st March 2018 for comparative purposes. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

3.12 External Audit Costs 
 
Coventry City Council has incurred the following costs in relation to services provided by its external auditors:  
 

 
 
*2017/18 costs have been restated for an additional charge relating to an enhanced audit report. 
  
Since 2012/13 the appointed external auditors have been Grant Thornton UK LLP. The fees in respect of other services provided by Grant Thornton in 2018/19 
relate to certification of the Teachers’ Pension return (£4,200), provision of the CFO Insights online tool that delivers financial analysis against all local authority 
accounts (£10,000) and the certification of the Housing Benefit Subsidy Claim (£16,000).  
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3.13 Usable and Unusable Reserves 
 
Further details of the Council's usable and unusable reserves, shown in section 2.3 are provided below: 
 
Usable Reserves 

 
 
* This is a working balance that is maintained to assist in managing unforeseen financial challenges. 
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Unusable Reserves
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Capital Adjustment Account 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the 
difference arising from the different rates at which 
non-current assets are accounted for as being 
consumed and those at which resources are set-
aside to finance their acquisition, construction or 
enhancement. Movements in this reserve are 
shown in the table below, together with those of 
the Revaluation Reserve. 
 
Revaluation Reserve 
This reserve contains the gains made by the 
Council arising from increases in the value of its: 
Property, Plant and Equipment; and Non-
operational Assets. The reserve only includes 
gains since its inception on 1st April 2007. Prior to 
that, gains were consolidated into the Capital 
Adjustment Account. The balance is reduced 
when assets with accumulated gains are: 
    

• revalued downwards or impaired and the 
gains are lost; 

• used in the provision of services and the 
gains are consumed through depreciation; 
or 

• disposed of and the gains realised. 
    
Revaluation Reserve movements are shown in the 
table above, together with those of the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 
This account provides a balancing mechanism 
between the different rates at which the gains and 
losses (such as premiums on the early repayment 

of debt) are recognised under the Code Of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting and those 
required by statute to be met from the General 
Fund. 
 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 
This account contains the cumulative difference 
between the accrued income from Council Tax 
and Business Rates and the amounts required by 
regulation to be credited to the General Fund. 
  
Pension Reserve 
This reserve absorbs the timing differences arising 
from the different arrangements for accounting for 
post-employment benefits and for funding benefits 
in accordance with statutory provisions. A 
breakdown of the movements in this reserve is 
provided in section 3.31. 
 
Accumulated Absences Account 
The account absorbs the differences that would 
otherwise arise on the General Fund from 
accruing for compensated absences earned but 
not taken in the year, e.g. annual leave entitlement 
carried forward at 31st March. Statutory 
arrangements require that the impact on the 
General Fund is neutralised by transfers to or from 
the Account. 
 
Available for Sale Financial Instruments 
Reserve 
Prior to the adoption of IFRS9 this recorded 
unrealised revaluation gains arising from holding 
available for sale investments, plus any unrealised 
losses that had not arisen from impairment of the 
assets. 

 
Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve 
This reserve contains the gains made by the 
authority arising from increases in value of its 
investments that are measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income. The 
balance is reduced when investments with 
accumulated gains are: 

• revalued downwards or impaired and the 
gains are lost 

• disposed of and the gains are realised. 
 
Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve 
The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve holds the 
gains recognised on the disposal of non-current 
assets but for which cash settlement has yet to 
take place. Under statutory arrangements, the 
authority does not treat these gains as usable for 
financing new capital expenditure until they are 
backed by cash receipts. When the deferred cash 
settlement eventually takes place, amounts are 
transferred to the Usable Capital Receipts 
Reserve. 
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3.14 Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding Basis under Regulations 

 
This note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income and expenditure recognised by the Authority in the year to the resources that 
are specified by statutory provisions as being available to meet future capital and revenue expenditure. 
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3.15 Property, Plant and Equipment 
The table below shows the movement in the City Council's Property, Plant and Equipment during the year. 
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The table below shows the movement in the City Council's Property, Plant and Equipment during the previous year for comparative purposes. 
 

 
 
 
 
Revaluation of Fixed Assets is undertaken within a 
5 year rolling programme. This is a re-assessment 
of asset valuations and has been undertaken by 
qualified City Council staff in accordance with the 
"Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors Appraisal 
and Valuation Manual". The valuation bases used 
for the fixed asset classifications are detailed in 

the accounting policies, see section 5.7.  In 
addition, a review is undertaken by the Council’s 
valuer to determine whether the carrying amount 
of other assets, not due for valuation as part of the 
rolling programme, is consistent with their current 
value. The valuer has considered both external 
factors, such as market conditions and changes in 

the regulatory environment, and internal factors, 
such as obsolescence and physical damage. 
There was also a review of specialist PPE, of 
which schools are the most significant. For the 
build costs the BCIS all-in Tender Price Index was 
applied and for land the Knight Frank Residential 
Development land Index. There was no change 
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required to the value of schools because of this 
review. 
 
Depreciation is a calculation of the amount an 
asset has decreased in value due to general wear 
and tear etc. and is provided for on all assets with 
a determinable finite life (except for land, 
community assets, heritage assets and non-
operational properties), by allocating the value of 
the asset in the balance sheet over the periods 
expected to benefit from their use.  
 
The basis upon which depreciation is charged for 
the different asset types is detailed in the 
accounting policies, see section 5.7. 
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3.16 Heritage Assets 
Heritage assets are those assets that are intended 
to be preserved in trust for future generations 
because of their cultural, environmental or 
historical associations. They are held by the 
authority principally for their contribution to 
knowledge and culture.  
 

Heritage assets that have been included in the 
financial statements at valuation are based on 
external or internal insurance valuations. These 
valuations were last updated in 2007 and have not 
been reassessed during 2018/19 because the cost 
of carrying this out is considered to outweigh the 
benefits to users of the financial statements. 

The table provides a breakdown of the brought 
forward balance of Heritage Assets on 1st April 
2018 and the carried forward balance on 31st 
March 2019. There have been no significant or 
material additions or disposals over the last five 
years that warrant any further disclosure. 
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Heritage assets relate predominantly to the 
museum collections at The Herbert Art Gallery & 
Museum, Coventry Transport Museum and other 
assets situated in the Council House and St Mary's 
Guildhall which have been categorised in the table 
above. 
 
Details of the following classification of heritage 
asset which are most significant in terms of value 
are:  
 
Visual Art collection - The Authority holds a 
significant collection of paintings which are on 
display at The Herbert. The collection is reported 
on the Balance Sheet at insurance valuations 
based on market values of which the most 
significant valuations include 'Ebbw Vale' by 
Lowry, 'King George III' by Lawrence and 'Bacchus 
and Ariadne' by Giordano and Brueghel. 
 
Textile Collection - The Authority holds an 
extensive collection of textiles which are on display 
at The Herbert and St Mary's Guildhall. The 
collection is reported on the Balance Sheet at 
insurance valuations based on market values of 
which the most significant valuation relates to the 
Tournai Tapestry that was commissioned to 
commemorate the visit of King Henry VII and 
Queen Elizabeth in 1500. 
 
Transport Museum Collection - The Authority 
holds an extensive transport collection which is on 
display at The Coventry Transport Museum. The 
collection is reported on the Balance Sheet at 
insurance valuations based on market values of 
which the most significant valuations include the 
Thrust 2 and Thrust SSC cars. Thrust SSC 
(supersonic car) is the current world land speed 
record holder and became the first car to officially 
break the sound barrier. 
 
Heritage assets have been recognised where the 
authority has information on the cost or value. 

Where the cost or value is not available, and the 
cost of obtaining the information outweighs the 
benefits to users of the financial statements, they 
have not been recognised and are disclosed 
separately below: 
 
Monuments - There are approximately sixty 
monuments consisting of sculptures, public art, 
murals and memorials situated around the city that 
have not been included in the financial statements 
due to not previously having values for these 
items. It is the view of the Authority that the cost of 
obtaining the information outweighs the benefits to 
users of the financial statements. Three of the 
most significant monuments of historic importance 
to Coventry and recognised internationally include: 
 

• Self Sacrifice, The Lady Godiva Statue - 
created in 1944 and installed in Broadgate 
in 1949. 

 

• Godiva and Peeping Tom figures 
Broadgate Clock Tower - Carved 
wooden figures which form part of the 
clock located in Broadgate. Created in 
1951 by Trevor Tennant. 

 

• Broadgate Standard - Standard 
containing elephant and castle from City 
coat of arms. Located in Broadgate and 
installed in March 1948. 

 
Artefacts and archaeology relating to the 
Pottery and Ceramics Industry - The Authority 
holds a significant collection of pottery and 
ceramics at various sites that have been obtained 
via collection and archaeological finds. None of 
these collections satisfy the authority's capital de 
minimis policy and, although they warrant 
recognition in terms of their contribution to 
knowledge and culture, this is the reason they are 
not included in the Balance Sheet. One of the 
most significant collections of historic importance 

to Coventry is the collection from the Lunt Roman 
Fort which is now located at the Whitefriars site, 
circa 40 complete or near complete Roman "pots". 
 
Local History Archive - Within the History Centre 
at The Herbert, the Authority holds a wide range of 
records and material relating to the history of 
Coventry which includes books, maps, 
newspapers, electoral registers and building plans. 
 
Further information about the Authority's 
Acquisition and Disposal Policy for Museum 
Archives and Local History Collections, including 
details regarding the preservation and 
management of assets can be viewed on the 
council's website (www.coventry.gov.uk).  
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3.17 Non-Operational Assets 
 
The tables below show the movement in the City Council's Non-Operational Assets during 2018/19, followed by comparative movements for the previous year. 
 

 
 
* All Under Construction Non-Operational Assets are Investment Properties and are included within that category on the Balance Sheet. These are reviewed annually and have 
been revalued where material differences arise.  
The Council changed its approach in 2017/18 so that a higher proportion of its investment properties is revalued each year. As a result, over 80% of investment properties have 
been revalued. The remaining assets have been subject to a review to ensure that there have been no material changes to their value. 
There are some property interests held under operating leases that the authority sub-lets. These properties are accounted for as Investment Properties. 
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Operating expenditure incurred and rental income generated from Investment Property is shown as ‘Commercial Property’ within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Account (section 2.2). 

 

The table below provides a breakdown of Investment Properties. These are all valued at Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.  
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3.18 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 
The table below shows how capital expenditure in 2018/19 has been financed: 
 

 
 
 
The Council's capital spending for the year, outlined in section 1.2 and identified in its management accounting reports (£146,697) includes all the items 
recorded under capital investment above (£146,905k) less new assets recorded as part of the Street Lighting PFI contract (£208k) see section 3.28. 
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3.19 Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment 
 
The following statement shows the total value of the revaluations carried out in the financial years 2014/15 to 2018/19. The valuations were carried out by 
Graham Stephens MRICS, from the Property Division – Place Directorate. The basis for valuation is set out in the statement of accounting policies. The 
effective date of each revaluation is the date that the revaluation was produced. 
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3.20 Capital Commitments 
 
The City Council approved capital programme for 2018/19 of £262.4m and a provisional programme of £239.6m for 2019/20 and £191.2m for 2020/21. The 
following are significant contracts legally committed to finish projects already started on 31st March 2019.
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3.21 Long Term Investments 
 
The City Council has long term investments in a number of companies.  Details of the investments are shown below and further details of the companies are 
shown in section 3.35 Associated Company Interests & Holdings. 
 

 
 

A valuation exercise undertaken jointly with 
BDO LLP in 2018 valued the Council’s 
shareholding in Birmingham Airport Holdings 
Limited at £29.2m. A subsequent valuation in 
2019 again undertaken jointly with BDO LLP 
has resulted in a marginally increased valuation 
of £29.3m.  
 
A valuation exercise undertaken jointly with 
BDO LLP in 2018 valued the Council's 
shareholding in the Coventry and Solihull 
Waste Disposal Company at £51.7m. A 
subsequent valuation exercise in 2019 again 
undertaken jointly with BDO LLP has resulted in 
a revised valuation of £57.0m.  
 
The Council completed the purchase of a 100% 
shareholding in Coombe Abbey Park Limited in 
December 2017. The Company owns and 
operates the Coombe Abbey Hotel which is 
situated just outside the city boundary. The fair 
value of the investment was calculated to be 

£12.0m in 2017/18. An updated valuation 
exercise undertaken jointly with BDO LLP in 
2019 has reduced the valuation to £11.4m.  
 
The Council purchased 50% of Friargate Joint 
Venture Project Limited in January 2019. This is 
a 50/50 joint venture with Friargate Holdings 2 
Limited, established to develop new buildings 
within the Friargate district of the city. The 
investment is being held at a value of £10.5m 
consistent with the purchase value of the 
shareholding. 
 
Details of the Council’s investment in North 
Coventry Holdings Limited are provided in 
section 3.35.  
 
The Council maintains a shareholding in the 
University of Warwick Science Park Innovation 
Centre Ltd. This has been valued at nil as at 
31st March 2019. 
 

The UK Battery Industrialisation Centre Ltd was 
incorporated in February 2018 and the Council 
is currently the sole shareholder. The purpose 
of the company is to run the proposed National 
Battery Development Facility which is currently 
under construction. The company will ultimately 
become a Joint Venture Private Limited 
Company with the Warwick Manufacturing 
Group and Coventry & Warwickshire Local 
Enterprise Partnership. The City Council is 
initially purchasing all land and equipment in 
relation to the facility with funding coming from 
Innovate UK which is a Government backed 
agency. As a result, activity within the company 
has been minimal to date and it is held at nil 
value as at 31st March 2019. 
  
See section 3.35 for further details regarding 
the Council’s company interests. 
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3.22 Long Term Debtors  
 
This note identifies the amounts owing to the authority, which are being repaid over various periods longer than one year. 
 
Long term debtors include a number of different types of financial assets, including loans provided for service purposes and debtors arising from finance lease disposals. 
Under IFRS9 debtors are accounted for as either at amortised cost or fair value through profit and loss, with the former being assessed for impairment. Transitional 
disclosures are included in section 3.34. 
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3.23 Short Term Debtors 
 
An analysis of the Council's short term debtors is shown below: 

 

 
 
 
The past due but not impaired amount for local taxation (council tax and non-domestic rates) can be analysed by age as follows: 
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3.24 Short Term Creditors 
 
An analysis of the Council's short term creditors is shown below: 
 

 
 
 

 

3.25 Provisions 
 
Provisions are made for liabilities the City Council has incurred where it is more likely than not that it will have to make a payment to discharge the liability.  If it 
is found that a provision is no longer needed it is returned to revenue.  The movement in the City Council's provisions during 2018/19 is explained below: 
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The split between short and long term provisions, as at 31st March 2019, is provided in the following table: 

 
 
 
The Council's provision for its self-insurance liability is based upon the full value of known insurance claims. The provision is used when insurance claims 
require settlement, the timing of which is uncertain. The Council also maintains an insurance earmarked reserve that is set aside for claims that have been 
incurred but not yet received as detailed within the note on usable and usable reserves. 
 
The Local Government Finance Act 2012 introduced a business rates retention scheme that enables local authorities to retain a proportion of the business rates 
generated in their area. One of the implications for this is that the Council is required to make provisions for refunding ratepayers who successfully appeal 
against the rateable value of their properties including amounts relating to 2018/19 and earlier financial years although the amount and timing of future 
payments are uncertain.  
 

3.26 Other Funds 
 
The City Council administers several funds that have been established from donations, contributions and bequests. The funds are set up to achieve specific 
objectives and are consolidated within the Council’s accounts. The following table provides details of the balances held in these funds. 
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3.27 Notes to the Cash Flow 
 
The Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services has been adjusted for the following non-cash movements: 
 

 
 
The Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services has been adjusted for the following items that are investing and financing activities: 
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All changes in liabilities arising from financing activities are a result of financing cash flows. No such changes relate to non-cash movements. 
 
The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 
 

 
 
 
The balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents is made up of the following elements: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

73 

3.28 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
 
PFI is an arrangement involving a partnership agreement with an external body in order to generate investment in Council services. In return for this investment 
the Council pays an annual fee. 
 
These PFI arrangements have been classified and accounted for as 'service concessions' under IFRIC 12, recognising finance leases under IAS 17 'Leases'. 
 
The Council's contracts under PFI arrangements are outlined in this disclosure note. 
 
Caludon Castle School PFI Contract 

 
In December 2004 the City Council entered into a PFI contract with Coventry Education Partnership for the provision of a fully rebuilt community secondary 
school (Caludon Castle), along with facilities management services, for a 30 year period. The contractor started on site in December 2004 and the first phase of 
the school opened in 2005/06.   
 
In February 2013 Caludon Castle School transferred to Academy Status, with the lease of the site to the school. This transfer did not result in any fundamental 
changes to the PFI contract itself. However, as a result of the transfer the value of the school's land and buildings was removed (as an impairment) from the 
Council's balance sheet. 
 
The Council is due to receive PFI grants of £56.3m from central government over the period of this contract.   
 
In 2018/19 expenditure on unitary charge payments to the contractor was £3,152k, compared with £3,109k, in 2017/18. In each of these years £1,875k of PFI 
grant was received, giving a net cost of £1,277k in 2018/19 (£1,234k in 2017/18). The school contribution was £667k in 2018/19 (£669k in 2017/18). The unitary 
charge is divided into three elements; service charge, repayment of the liability and interest. 
 
The forecast unitary charge payments the Council will make under the contract are as follows:  

 

 
 
The payments to the contractor are calculated using an assumed rate of inflation.  The actual payments will be dependent on actual inflation and/or penalty 
deductions applied in respect of underperformance and non-availability. 
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The liability held on the Balance Sheet under this PFI scheme and an analysis of the movement within 2018/19 are shown in the tables below. 

 

 
 
New Homes for Old PFI Contract 

 
In March 2006 the City Council entered into a PFI contract with Anchor Trust for the provision of community care services.  The contract comprises the provision 
of two 40 bed specialist dementia units, including 10 respite beds, and three extra care units with domiciliary care support for up to 120 tenants along with 
facilities management services, for a 25 year period. 
 
The five sites were transferred to the contractor, under licence, to enable works to take place. All units became operational during 2007/08. Following the 
commencement of services, the Council entered into a 25 year contract with Anchor Trust.   
 
The Council is due to receive PFI grants of £43.5m from central government over the period of this contract.   
 
In 2018/19 expenditure on unitary charge payments to the contractor was £7,308k, compared with £7,016k in 2017/18. This unitary charge is divided into three 
elements; service charge, repayment of the liability and interest. 
 
The forecast unitary charge payments the Council will make under the contract are as follows: 

 

 
 
The payments to the contractor are calculated using an assumed rate of inflation.  The actual payments will be dependent on actual inflation and/or penalty 
deductions applied in respect of underperformance and non-availability. 
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The liability and assets held on the Balance Sheet under this PFI scheme and an analysis of the movement within 2018/19 are shown in the tables below. 
 

 
 
At the end of the contract (June 2032) the facilities and sites will transfer back to the Council at nil consideration 
 
Street Lighting PFI Contract 

 
In August 2010 the City Council entered into a PFI contract with Balfour Beatty (Connect Roads Coventry Ltd) for the provision of street lighting services. The 
contract provides for the replacement and maintenance of street lights and similar equipment across the city, together with the associated energy costs, for a 
period of 25 years. The Council is due to receive PFI grants of £124.3m from central government over the period of this contract.   
 
In 2018/19 expenditure on unitary charge payments to the contractor was £7,927k, compared with £7,585k in 2017/18. 
This unitary charge is divided into three elements; service charge, repayment of the liability and interest. 
 
The forecast unitary charge payments the Council will make under the contract are as follows: 
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The payments to the contractor are calculated using an assumed rate of inflation.  The actual payments will be dependent on actual inflation and/or penalty 
deductions applied in respect of underperformance and non-availability. 
 
The liability and assets held on the Balance Sheet under this PFI scheme and an analysis of the movement within are shown in the tables below. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
At the end of the contract (October 2035), the infrastructure assets will transfer back to the Council at nil consideration.
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3.29 Leases 
 
Authority as Lessee 

 
Finance Leases 
The Authority has acquired a number of properties, vehicles, plant and IT equipment under finance leases.  The assets acquired under these leases are carried 
in the Balance Sheet at the following net amounts: 
 

 
 
The Authority is committed to making minimum payments under these leases comprising settlement of the long-term liability for the interest in the property 
acquired by the Authority and finance costs that will be payable by the Authority in future years while the liability remains outstanding.  The minimum lease 
payments are made up of the following amounts: 
 

 
 
The minimum lease payments will be payable over the following periods: 
 

 
 
The minimum lease payments do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after the lease was entered into, such as adjustments following 
rent reviews.  In 2018/19 there were no contingent rents payable by the Authority. 
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Operating Leases 
 
The Authority also has a number of properties, vehicles, plant and IT equipment under operating leases. 
The future minimum lease payments due under non-cancellable leases in future years are: 
 

 
 
 
Authority as Lessor 

 
Finance Leases 
 
The Authority have gross investments in leases, made up of the minimum lease payments expected to be received over the remaining terms and the residual 
values anticipated for the properties when the leases comes to an end.  The minimum lease payments comprise settlement of the long-term debtor for the 
interest in the properties acquired by the lessee and finance income that will be earned by the Authority in future years whilst the debtors remain outstanding.  
The gross investments are made up of the following amounts: 
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The gross investment in the lease and the minimum lease payments will be received over the following periods: 
 

 
 
The minimum lease payments do not include rents that are contingent on events taking place after the lease was entered into, such as adjustments following 
rent reviews.  In 2018/19, contingent rents receivable by the Authority totalled £75k. 
 
 
Operating Leases 
The Authority leases out land and buildings to third parties under operating leases. The minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in 
future years are: 
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3.30 Pension Costs 
 
The Council currently participates in three post-
employment pension schemes on behalf of its 
employees: the West Midlands Metropolitan 
Authorities Pension Fund in relation to the majority 
Council employees; the NHS Pensions Scheme of 
which a small number of adult social care and 
public health employees are members; and the 
Teachers' Pension Scheme which covers 
Teachers employed by the Council. 
 
The Council’s pension deficit increased slightly in 
2018/19. When compared to the total value of 
everything the Council owns, the overall pension 
deficit remains a significant matter for 
consideration. Further details on pension liabilities 
are provided in note 3.31. 
 
Officers  
The overall position on pensions has required 
increases in Local Government Pension scheme 
pension contributions from employers and 
employees nationally. Coventry City Council has 
made year-on-year increases in employer pension 
contributions since 2014/15 Although these 
increases continue to represent extra costs to the 
Council, these are being managed within its 
overall budget and mean that the financial position 
of the authority remains sound. 
 
 
In 2017/18 the City Council made an upfront 
payment of £93,300k to cover employer 
contributions up to 2019/20. The amount that 
would have been paid without this upfront payment 
was £36,877k, (£34,469k in 2017/18), 

representing 27.3% of employees' pensionable 
pay into the West Midlands Metropolitan 
Authorities Pension Fund.  The contributions were 
set in line with local government pension 
regulations, following the actuarial review by 
Barnett Waddingham LLP as at March 2016. 
 
The Council is also responsible for all pension 
payments relating to employees who retire early 
and additional pension contributions.  In 2018/19, 
this amounted to £1,909k (£2,895k in 2017/18). 
 
The stated pension position includes an estimate 
of the potential impact of the Court of Appeal 
judgement regarding the McCloud and Sargeant 
cases relating to age discrimination within the 
judicial and fire pension schemes respectively. 
 
This fund is administered by Wolverhampton 
Metropolitan Borough Council and provides 
members with defined benefits related to pay and 
service.  Further information can be found in West 
Midlands Metropolitan Authorities Pension Fund's 
Annual report, which is available upon request 
from the Pension Fund. 
 
 
Teaching Staff 
In 2018/19, the City Council paid £9,059k 
(£10,163k in 2017/18) to the Department for 
Education (DfE) for teachers' pension costs, which 
represents 16.48% of pensionable pay. In addition, 
the City Council is responsible for all pension 
payments relating to teachers who retire early and 
additional pension contributions.  In 2018/19, 

these amounted to £2,379k (£2,426k in 2017/18) 
representing 2.4% of pensionable pay. 
 
The Scheme is a defined benefit scheme, 
administered by the Teachers Pensions Agency 
(TPA).  Although the scheme is unfunded, the TPA 
uses a notional fund as a basis for calculating the 
employers' contribution rate paid by local 
education authorities.  However, it is not possible 
for the authority to identify a share of the 
underlying liabilities in the scheme attributable to 
its own employees.  For the purposes of this 
statement of accounts, it is therefore accounted for 
on the basis as a defined contribution scheme. It is 
expected that the level of contributions during the 
next annual reporting period will be £9.9m 
although the actual level would be significantly 
affected in the event of transfers of schools to 
academy status. 
 
NHS Staff 
Staff who work for the public health service which 
transferred to the City Council on 1st April 2013 
may be members of the NHS Pension Scheme, 
which is administered by the NHS Business 
Services Authority.  It is a defined benefit scheme.  
However, as the authority's share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities cannot be identified, it is 
treated as a defined contribution scheme.  The 
pension costs charged to the accounts are the 
employer’s contributions payable to NHS Pension 
Scheme. In 2018/19 the City Council paid £28k to 
the NHS Pension Scheme in respect of former 
NHS staff retirement benefits (£48k in 2017/18), 
which represents 14.3% of pensionable pay.  
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3.31 Retirement Benefits 
 
Coventry participates in the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) through the West Midlands Authorities Pension Fund, which is administered by 
Wolverhampton Council.  This is a funded defined benefit scheme, meaning that the authority and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level 
intended to balance the pension fund's liabilities with investment assets. In addition to this scheme, Coventry is also responsible for all pension payments 
relating to added years awarded for allowing premature retirement of teachers.  This is an unfunded scheme, meaning that there are no investment assets built 
up to meet the pensions liability, and cash has to be generated to meet actual pension payments as they fall due. Barnett Waddingham LLP, the current actuary 
for the pension fund, has undertaken the assessment of the value of assets and liabilities on behalf of the member authorities of the West Midlands Pension 
Fund. The stated pensions position includes an estimate of the potential impact of the Court of Appeal judgement regarding the McCloud and Sargeant cases 
relating to age discrimination within the judicial and fire pension schemes respectively. 
 
Summary of Outcome 

The overall decrease in the deficit is analysed as follows: 
 

 
  
The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the authority has in the long term to repay retirement benefits.  The total liability has a substantial impact 
on the net worth of the authority as recorded on the balance sheet.  However, statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of 
the authority remains healthy. 
 
The LGPS deficit increased slightly within 2018/19 and there were some significant movements within the outcome which can largely be explained as follows: 

• A decrease in the discount rate which creates a liability increase. Every time there is a decrease in discount rates it drives up the value of pension 
benefits and increase current service costs. 

• A decrease in life expectancy which accounts for a decrease in liabilities 

• Continuing benefit of an upfront payment of £93,300k made by the City Council to the Pension Fund in April 2017 which covered  the next  3 years 
pension contributions 
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The deficit on the local government scheme will be made good by increased contributions over the working life of the employees and other scheme changes, as 
assessed by the scheme's actuary. 
 
Finance is only required to be raised to cover the cost of teachers’ pensions relating to added years when the pensions are actually paid. 
 
The cost of retirement benefits is recognised in the Net Cost of Services when they are earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid 
as pensions. The charge we are required to make against Council Tax is based on the cash payable in the year based on the current level of Employer 
Superannuation contributions. The difference between the two is adjusted as part of the Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under 
Regulations. 
 
The following transactions have been made in the Income and Expenditure Account and as Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under 
Regulations: 
 

 
The cumulative amount of re-measurements recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement from 1st April 2010 to 31st March 2019 is a 
loss of £61.61m. 
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Reconciliation of fair value of the scheme (plan) assets: 
 

 
 
The expected return on scheme assets is determined by considering the expected returns available on the assets underlying the current investment policy.  
Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields as at the Balance Sheet date. 
 
Expected returns on equity investments reflect long-term real rates of return experienced in the respective markets. The actual return on scheme assets in the 
year was a £45.4m gain (compared to a £0.8m gain in 2017/18). 
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Reconciliation of present value of the scheme liabilities (defined benefit obligation):

 
 
Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent 
on assumptions about factors such as mortality rates and salary levels. 
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The defined benefit obligation is an estimate and as such is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions in the table above. The table below is a sensitivity analysis 
based on possible changes to these assumptions. The sensitivity analysis assumes that for each change in assumption, all of the other assumptions remain 
constant. 
 

 
 
Assets are valued at fair value, and consist of the following categories, by proportion:  
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3.32 Officers' Remuneration (including exit packages) 
 
Employee's Remuneration (excluding pension contributions) exceeding £50,000 

The Council is required to disclose the number of employees whose remuneration during 2018/19 exceeded £50,000. Remuneration includes salaries and 
wages (net of pension contributions) and other allowances. The table below shows the number of City Council employees whose remuneration fell within the 
relevant bands: 
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Senior Officer's Remuneration (including pension contributions) 

The Council is required to disclose details of senior officer's remuneration. This includes: salaries; fees; allowances; bonuses; benefits in kind; expenses 
allowances; compensation for loss of employment; and pension contributions (employer's contributions and any other emoluments). The tables below provide 
the required disclosure: 
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Exit Packages 

The Council is required to disclose details of exit packages paid to employees. These include redundancy costs, pension contributions in respect of added 
years, ex-gratia payments and other departure costs. 
 

 
 
 

3.33 Members' Allowances 
 
The Council paid the following amounts to members during the year: 
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3.34 Financial Instruments 
 
Financial instruments include both assets and liabilities. 
 
The financial assets held by the Council during the year are accounted for under the following classifications: 
 

• Amortised cost, comprising: cash; fixed term deposits; loans provided for service purposes; corporate bonds; trade and lease receivables. 

• Fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI), comprising: pooled bond, equity and property funds and shares held in certain companies.  

• Fair value through profit and loss, comprising: money market funds and loans provided where the cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest. 

 
The financial liabilities held by the Council during the year are measured at amortised cost and comprise: long-term loans from the Public Works Loan Board 
and commercial lenders; short-term loans from other local authorities; lease payables; Private Finance Initiative contracts detailed in note 3.28 and trade 
payables for goods and services received. 
 

The Balance Sheet includes the following categories of financial instruments: 
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Current borrowings and investments represent amounts due to be settled within 12 months, including accrued interest. In 2018/19 borrowing costs of £1,410k 
on qualifying assets were capitalised. 
 
The Council has elected to account for a number of investments as equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income because they are long-
term strategic holdings and changes in their fair value are not considered to be part of the Council’s annual financial performance. These are divided between 
those held at 31st March 2019 and those derecognised during 2018/19, with the latter being disposed of as part of realignment of the Council’s investment portfolio 
in the light of cashflow requirements: 
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The 2018/19 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement include the following amounts in relation to financial instruments: 

 
Financial instruments, except those classified at amortised cost, are carried in the Balance Sheet at fair value, which for most assets is taken from the market 
price. The fair values of other instruments have been estimated by calculating the net present value of the remaining contractual cash flows at 31st March 2019, 
using the following methods and assumptions: 

• for Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) and other local authority loans using the appropriate market rate for such loans as at 31st March 2019.  

• for "Lenders Option Borrower's Option" market loans (LOBOs) and Stock Issue loans, using the appropriate interest rate swap added to the value of any 
embedded options. 

• for PFI and finance leases using the appropriate corporate bond rate 

• for other long term loans and investments using market rates for similar instruments and with similar maturity terms  

• for shares, taking into account the company’s net assets and expected future profits 

• no early repayment or impairment is recognised. 

• where an instrument will mature in the next 12 months, including trade payables and receivables, the carrying amount is assumed to approximate fair 
value. 

Fair values are shown below, split by their level in the fair value hierarchy: 

• Level 1 – fair value is only derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities, e.g. bond prices. 

• Level 2 – fair value is calculated from inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, e.g. interest rates or yields for similar 
instruments. 

• Level 3 – fair value is determined using unobservable inputs, e.g. non-market data such as cash flow forecasts or estimated creditworthiness.
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The fair value of financial liabilities reflects the amount of fixed interest debt taken out in the past at higher rates of interest, and includes accrued interest. The 
fair value figures for PWLB, Market Loans & Stock Issue above have been calculated by the Council's treasury advisors, Arlingclose. The loan stock, which is 
listed on the London Stock Exchange, totals £12.004m, is at a fixed interest rate of 8.25% and is due to mature for repayment on 5th January 2026. The fair 
value figure for PFI has been calculated in house, using an Arlingclose calculator. Fair value figures for Other Local Authority, Creditors & Other Liabilities are 
all calculated in house. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities categorised as Level 3 are: 
 

• Shares in unlisted companies, as included in note 3.21. Fair value is calculated by applying a market based discount rate or multiplier to the forecast 
earnings set out in the financial plans of the companies. A 5% variation in earnings would alter the value of the shares by £5.7m.  
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• Long term loans to companies, as included in note 3.22. Fair value is calculated by discounting the future value of cashflows under the loans at the 
market rate as at 31st March 2019. A 1% variation in the discount rate would alter the value of the loans by £2.4m. 
 

The authority's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 
 
Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the authority. 
 
Liquidity risk – the possibility that the authority might not have funds available to meet its commitments to make payments. 
 
Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the authority as a result of changes in such measures as interest rates and stock market 
movements. 
 
The authority's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
resources available to fund services.  Risk management is carried out by a central treasury management team, under policies approved by the Council in the 
annual Treasury Management Strategy.   
 
Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to the authority's customers and loans provided by the Council.   
 
Credit risk arising from deposits made with banks and financial institutions is managed based on limits set out in the Council Investment Strategy and Policy, 
which forms part of the annual Treasury Management Strategy. For 2018/19 this required that deposits were only made with banks, building societies & 
corporate bonds with a high quality credit rating (minimum A- long term). In addition, as at 31st March 2019 the policy limited the maximum that can be 
deposited with an institution at any point in time to £10m. Under the Treasury Management Strategy the Section 151 officer will, as appropriate, restrict 
investment activity to those institutions considered of higher quality than the minimum. 
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The following analysis summarises the authority's potential maximum exposure to credit risk arising from deposits made with banks and financial institutions, 
based on experience of default and uncollectability over the last five financial years, adjusted to reflect the current market conditions. 
 

 
 
The deposits set out above as at 31st March 2019 were held with financial institutions domiciled in the following countries: 
 

 
 
Pooled property and equity funds are included in the above tables for completeness but are subject to price risk, as referred to later in this note. 
 
Overall limits to exposure to individual institutions were not exceeded during the year and the authority does not expect any losses from non-performance by 
any of its counterparties in relation to deposits.  
 
Credit risk on long term debtors including service loans, is assessed through the review of the risk of default and the level of loss given the occurrence of a 
default, taking into account collateral. Where available, and where relevant, the following information is used to assess the risk of default: 

• financial and other information about the particular debtor, including statutory accounts, credit rating and forward looking business planning data; 

• the extent to which contract payments are overdue; 

• recovery or repayment plans where payments are overdue; 

• the wider local and national context.  

Write off is considered only where it is assessed that the amount will be not be paid, taking into account any recovery plans. 
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Financial instruments are assessed at each balance sheet date to assess whether credit risk has increased significantly since recognition and the previous 
balance sheet date. Where it is deemed that the credit risk has not increased significantly or that the risk is low, then loss allowances are calculated as 12 
month expected credit losses, based on the likelihood of a credit loss event occurring in the following 12 months. Otherwise loss allowances are calculated 
based on the expected lifetime credit losses. 
 
The Council manages the credit risk arising from its loans for service purposes, together with any loan commitments in line with the Commercial Investment 
Strategy approved by Council on 19th February 2019. 
 
The authority does not generally allow credit for trade debtors.  Loss allowances are calculated by reference to the historic cost of default, viewed on collective 
basis.  £4,335k of the £46,788  trade debtor balance is past its due date for payment. The past due amount can be analysed by age as follows:  
 

 

Liquidity Risk 
 
As the authority has ready access to borrowings from the PWLB, there is no significant risk that it will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under 
financial instruments.  Instead, the risk is that the authority will be bound to replenish a significant proportion of its borrowings at a time of unfavourable interest 
rates. This risk is managed through the use of Prudential Indicators, set as part of the Treasury Management Strategy, limiting the amount of borrowing that 
matures over the next 10 years. 
 
The maturity analysis of financial liabilities is as follows: 
 

 



 

97 

In the above table, in order to illustrate liquidity risk, financial liabilities are stated at the value of principal to be repaid in future, rather than at their carrying 
amounts. As such, they exclude adjustments in arriving at the fair value of stepped interest loans, accrued interest on loans and liabilities in respect of PFI and 
Finance Leases. 
 
LOBO loans are included in the maturity analysis of financial liabilities based on their actual contractual maturity date, rather than the earliest date on which the 
lender can opt to increase the interest rate. In the event of the lender increasing the interest rate the City Council can opt to repay the loan. A total of £38m of 
such loans are held, £10m of which the lenders have interest review options at up to annual intervals, and £28m at 5 yearly intervals, from May 2015. All trade 
and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year. 
 
Market Risk 

Interest rate risk 
 
The authority is exposed to risk in terms of the impact of interest rate movements on its borrowings and investments. Movements in interest rates have a 
complex impact on the authority.  For instance, a rise in interest rates would have the following effects: 
 
Borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense charged to the Income and Expenditure Account will rise. 
Borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the liabilities borrowings will fall. 
Investments at variable rates – the interest income in the Income and Expenditure Account will rise. 
 
Borrowings are not carried at fair value, so nominal gains and losses on fixed rate borrowings would not impact on the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  However, changes in interest payable and receivable on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the Income and Expenditure 
Account and affect the General Fund Balance pound for pound.  Movements in the fair value of fixed rate investments will be reflected in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
The authority has a number of strategies for managing interest rate risk.  Prudential Indicators, as set out in the Treasury Management Strategy, are used to 
manage interest rate risk by limiting the value of variable interest rate exposure to £89.1m in 2018/19. In addition, further Prudential Indicators limit the amount 
of borrowing that matures, and may need to be refinanced, in the next 10 years. In practical terms, the extensive use by local authorities of PWLB fixed rate 
borrowing limits the impact of interest rate fluctuations on the General Fund balance.  
 
The treasury management team has an active strategy for assessing interest rate exposure that feeds into the setting of the annual budget and which is used to 
update the budget quarterly during the year.  This allows any adverse changes to be accommodated.  The analysis will also advise whether new borrowing 
taken out is fixed or variable. 
 
According to this strategy, at 31st March 2019, a 1% variation in interest rates would not have a material impact on variable rate borrowings, investments or 
government grant receivable for financing costs. 
 
However, a 1% increase in interest rates would result in a decrease in the fair value of fixed rate borrowing liabilities of £63.6m. This movement would be equal 
and opposite for a 1% fall in interest rates.  
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Price Risk 

The Council’s investment in pooled property funds is subject to the risk of falling commercial property prices. This risk is limited by the Council’s maximum 
exposure to property investments of £16.6m. A 5% fall in commercial property prices at 31st March 2019 would result in a £638k (2018 £572k)  charge to Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure which is then transferred to the Financial Instrument Revaluation Reserve. 
 
The Council’s investment in pooled equity funds is subject to the risk of falling share prices. This risk is limited by the Council’s maximum exposure to equity 
investments of £13.56m A 5% fall in equity prices at 31st March 2019 would result in a £374k (2018 not applicable) charge to Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure which is then transferred to the Financial Instrument Revaluation Reserve 
 
In addition, the Council has shareholdings to the value of £111m in a number of joint ventures and in local industry. The authority is consequently exposed to 
losses arising from movements in the value of shares. 
 
As the shareholdings have arisen in the acquisition of specific interests, the authority is not in a position to limit its exposure to value movements by diversifying 
its portfolio. Instead it only acquires shareholdings in return for 'open book' arrangements with the company concerned so that the authority can monitor factors 
that might cause a fall in the value of specific shareholdings. 
 
All movements in the value of shares will impact on gains and losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  A general shift of 
5% in the general value of shares (positive or negative) would thus have resulted in a gain or loss being recognised in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement for 2018/19. 
 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

During the year, the authority purchased £17.285m of euros at an exchange rate of 1.1657 euros to the pound. The purchase was made to enable certainty of 
project costs when paying suppliers in euros for UK Battery Industrialisation Centre (UKBIC) equipment. The full cost of the purchase of euros is being 
reimbursed by Innovate UK who are the funders for the UKBIC project. As at 31st March 2019 the authority had €18.871m of unspent euros. 
 
Due to the guarantee of funding from Innovate UK the authority has no exposure to loss arising from movements in exchange rates. 
 
Transition to IFRS9 Financial Instruments 
 
The Council has adopted the IFRS9 Financial Instruments accounting standard with effect from 1st April 2018. The main changes include the reclassification 
and remeasurement of financial assets and the earlier recognition to the impairment of financial assets. 
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The Council has made use of transitional provisions in IFRS9 to not restate the prior year’s financial statements, and the effect of the remeasurement is instead 
shown as an additional line in the movement in Reserves Statement. The changes on transition to the balance sheet are summarised below: 
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3.35 Associated Company Interests & Holdings 
 
The City Council maintains investments and/or interests in a number of companies. The following summarises the latest information and where applicable the 
latest audited accounts. Companies in which the City Council maintain investments as shown in note 3.21. 
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Where not specifically stated above, copies of company accounts can be obtained directly from Companies House.  
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3.36 Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
 
The audited Statement of Accounts was 
authorised for issue by the Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services on 2 September 2019. Where 
events taking place before this date provided 
information about conditions existing at 31 March 

2019, the figures in the financial statements and 
the notes have been adjusted to reflect the impact 
of this information. This includes an estimate of the 
impact of the McCloud and Sargeant cases on the 
Council's Pension liability. There were no non-

adjusting events between the balance sheet date 
and 2 September 2019. 
 
 
 

 

3.37 Contingent Liabilities and Assets 

Contingent Liabilities 

 
University Hospital Mandatory Business Rates 
Relief 
 
The Council received a letter in February 2016 
sent on behalf of University Hospitals Coventry 
and Warwickshire NHS Trust requesting 
mandatory Business Rates relief for University 
Hospital. The appeal for relief replicates similar 
claims made to other local authorities across the 
country. If the relief were to be granted this would 
represent an on-going impact on Business Rates 
revenue in excess of £2m with potential for a back-
dated element of c£23m. This would affect the 
Council and might also impact the West Midlands 
Combined Authority although the precise split of 
potential financial liability would depend on the 
future structure of the local government finance 
system and the existing 100% Business Rates 
Pilot.  
 
At a national level, the total level of claims are 
thought to be sufficient to represent a significant 
impact on the wider funding model for local 
government, especially if there was a risk that 
claims could be extended to other similar or 
related properties.  
 

The Council has taken legal advice, organised 
through the Local Government Association and 
following this has responded to the claim, stating 
that it does not regard there to be an entitlement to 
relief. Given the current nature of the proceedings 
the Council believes that there are strong grounds 
for rejecting the claim and it has not been reflected 
as a provision in these accounts. However, 
because it remains possible that the claim is 
upheld and because the potential costs are so 
large, it is appropriate to record the matter as a 
contingent liability. 
 
Connecting Communities Grant Claw-Back 
 
The Council has previously invested capital 
resources into a number of children's centres in 
the city funded by Government grants including 
Surestart Grant. Some of these buildings are 
amongst those affected by the Council’s 
Connecting Communities Programme. Should the 
buildings no longer be used for the purposes set 
out within the grant conditions they could face a 
potential claw-back of grant as a result. In order to 
mitigate against this risk, the Council is 
endeavouring to ensure that the buildings will 
continue to be used for similar activities such that 
it is able to avoid the need for any grant claw-back. 
The level of Capital spend involved is in the region 
of £2.1m. 
 

Friargate Bridgedeck Claw-Back 
 
As a result of a European Court of Auditors (ECA) 
audit on European Regional Development Fund 
(ERDF) spend on Friargate Bridge-deck the 
Council could face potential claw-back of ERDF 
grant. The key risk lies with the ECA’s challenge 
over the validity of the procurement process, 
although having accessed a Highways England 
procurement framework, a widely used national 
procurement route, the Council maintains that it 
has observed the correct process in this regard. 
The Council continues to receive support for its 
case from the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government.  
 
Following the audit the Council has submitted 
supporting paperwork justifying its position and the 
matter is subject to an ongoing dialogue. The 
Council’s continued stance is that the claw-back 
argument is also based on a flawed understanding 
of the procurement process, form of contract and 
the contract management process in relation to 
grant funding claimed on the project. No current 
liability has been demonstrated and there is no 
indication of the size of any potential claw-back. 
However, given that the overall value of ERDF 
Bridgedeck expenditure amounts to £3.5m it is 
appropriate to record this as a contingent liability. 
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3.38 Collection Fund Statement and Notes 
 
This account shows how much Council Tax and 
National Non-Domestic Rates (Business Rates) 
are collected within the City. It shows how much 
has been transferred to the Income and 
Expenditure Account to pay for Council Services 

and how much has been paid to central 
government, the Police (West Midlands Police and 
Crime Commissioner) and Fire (West Midlands 
Fire and Rescue Authority). The difference 
between these two amounts is then a surplus or a  

deficit which is shared between the Council, 
central government, and the Police and Fire 
organisations.  
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Income and Expenditure Account 

The Collection Fund is a statutory account, which 
receives income from the Council Tax and 
Business Rates from which payments are made to 
the City Council's General Fund, the Police and 
Crime Commissioner for the West Midlands, the 
West Midlands Fire Authority and Central 
Government.  These payments represent, for 
Council Tax, the amounts requested by each 
organisation at the beginning of the year to fund 

their net budgets and, for Business Rates, the 
amounts determined by the nationally set multiplier 
and the local Business Rates tax base and split by 
pre-determined percentages.  
 
Income from Business Rates 

The City Council collects rates from local 
businesses on behalf of Central Government. The 
Government determines the level of rates payable, 
which was  per £ of rateable value ( in ). The 

Valuation Office Agency sets the rateable value of 
each property and the total was  at  ( at ). The 
Government uses the total collected for the whole 
country to finance part of its contribution to the 
cost of local government.  In addition to a bad debt 
provision, to meet the anticipated impact of debts 
being written off, there is also a provision for the 
estimated future liability amendments due to 
appeals. Details of the movement in these 
provisions are provided within the tables later in 
this section. 

 
 
Calculation of the Council Tax Base 

The level of Council Tax is set at the beginning of 
the year and is calculated so as to ensure that the 
Collection Fund can meet its obligations. Council 
Tax paid by taxpayers is based on the valuation of 
their property.  Each property is placed into one of 
eight valuation bands (A to H). 

 
 
The total income required by the Collection Fund 
is divided by the "Council Tax Base". The Council 
Tax Base represents the number of equivalent 
band D properties in the City (i.e. properties in a 
higher valuation band are treated as more than 
one band D property, properties in a lower  

 
 
valuation band are treated as a fraction of a band 
D property), multiplied by the estimated eventual 
collection rate of . The total number of dwellings 
on the valuation list is  of which  are exempt. 
Details of the Tax Base calculation are shown in 
the table below: 
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Provisions and Write Offs 

 
 
* The provision figures provided in section 3.25 include 99% of the Appeals Provision figures shown in the table above. This is the City Council's share of the 
Business Rates balances. 
 
Gross Debtors 

 
 
Precepts and Demands on the Collection Fund 

The amounts accrued into the precepting organisations' own accounts are detailed below: 
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4 Additional Financial Statements - Group Accounts 
 

4.1 Overview of Group Accounts 
 
The Group Accounts have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRS and where material, the 
accounts of other group entities have been 
adjusted to align their accounting policies with that 
of the Local Authority parent. Sections 4.2 to 4.5 
present the Group Accounts core financial 
statements. The purpose of these statements is 
described in section 2.1, together with details of 
changes in the presentation of the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 
 
Note 3.35 to Coventry City Council's balance sheet 
shows details of the various companies in which it 
has an interest.  Coombe Abbey Park Ltd (CAPL), 
North Coventry Holding (NCH) and Coventry North 
Regeneration (CNR) are included as subsidiaries 
within the Group, and Coventry & Solihull Waste 
Disposal Company (CSWDC) and Friargate JV 
Project Ltd are included as joint ventures. 

 
Birmingham Airport Holdings and University of 
Warwick Science Park Business Innovation Centre 
have not been included within the Group as it was 
deemed under IAS 28 that the Council did not 
have the power to exercise significant influence 
over the business and financial affairs of these 
companies. Culture Coventry Limited, Coventry & 
Warwickshire Local Enterprise Partnership Limited 
and UK Battery Industrialisation Centre UK Ltd 
have not been included as it was considered by 
doing so it would not have had a material effect on 
the Group Accounts. 
 
IFRS require that the financial statements of the 
reporting authority (Coventry City Council) and its 
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled 
entities shall be prepared as of the same date. 
Where this does not happen, for consolidation 

purposes, additional financial statements, as of the 
same date as the reporting authority shall be 
prepared unless it is impracticable to do so. For 
consolidation purposes draft accounts as at 31st 
March 2019 for NCH, CNR and CSWDC have 
been used. For CAPL draft accounts as at 31st 
December 2018 and management accounts for 
January to March 2019 have been used. Friargate 
JV Project Ltd was only incorporated on 17th 
December 2018 so management accounts up to 
31st March 2019 have been used. 
 
Subsidiaries have been consolidated into the 
Group Accounts on a line by line basis 
incorporating their income and expenditure fully in 
the relevant service revenue accounts. Joint 
ventures have been consolidated into the group 
accounts under the equity method. 
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4.2 Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account 
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4.3 Group Movement in Reserves Statement 
 
Group Useable Reserves and Overall Position 
 

 
 
 
Group Unusable Reserves  
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Group Usable Reserves and Overall Position Comparatives 

 
 
Group Unusable Reserves Comparatives 
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4.4 Group Balance Sheet 
 
The Group Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and liabilities recognised by the authority. The net assets of the authority 
(assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the authority. 
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4.5 Group Cash Flow Statement 
 
The Group Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the authority during the reporting period. The statement shows how the 
authority generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing activities. 
 

 
 
Note 3.27 presents an analysis of the amounts relevant to the Single Entity accounts for: non-cash movements; items included in the provision of services that 
are investing and financing activities; investing activities; and financing activities. The following table provides a reconciliation of the adjustments between the 
Single Entity and the Group accounts for these amounts. 
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4.6 Reconciliation of Single Entity to Group Accounts 
 
Income and Expenditure Surplus/Deficit Adjustments 

 

 

Balance Sheet Adjustments 

 
 
Explanations of these balance sheet adjustments are provided in section 4.9. 
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4.7 Group Tax Expense 
 
The group tax expense (income) related to profit and loss from ordinary activities is presented in the statement of comprehensive income, the table below 
details the breakdown of this amount. 
 

 
 
 

4.8 Group Companies Disclosure 
 
Coventry & Solihull Waste Disposal Company (CSWDC) 

CSWDC is operated as a Joint Venture Company by its major shareholders, Coventry City Council (CCC) and Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council (SMBC) . 
The shareholding is held in a ratio of 66 Coventry shares and 33 Solihull shares. 
 
CCC hold ‘A’ class shares and SMBC hold ‘B’ class shares. 
 
With the agreement of CCC and SMBC, CSWDC raised a new class of share (Class C). One class C share has been issued to each of Warwickshire County 
Council and Leicestershire County Council at nil value. This Class C share confers no dividend rights, no rights to appoint its own director to the shareholder 
panel and only limited voting rights at the shareholders panel on matters relating to the control of the Company.  
CCC and SMBC will continue to hold the only primary (ordinary) shares in CSWDC and receive a dividend in accordance with this shareholding.  
 
As at 31st March 2019 the Company had Capital Commitments of £703,000. 
 
Despite the issue of the C Class share and changes to the Shareholders Agreement the fundamental status of CSWDC has not changed. CCC & SMBC will 
continue to work together to arrive at mutually agreed decisions which are voted on accordingly at the Shareholder Panel. As a result of this, the existing 
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treatment of CSWDC in the group accounts of both Coventry and Solihull, is for the Company to be treated as a Joint Venture. This position implies that no 
shareholder has ultimate control.  
 
North Coventry Holdings Limited (NCH) 

The Council holds 100% of the shares (value £2.7m) in North Coventry Holdings Ltd and has 100% of the voting rights. NCH is included within the Council's 
group accounts as a subsidiary. The Council is fully responsible for meeting any accumulated deficits or losses of NCH. 
NCH's main activity is to hold 100% shares in Coventry North Regeneration (CNR)  
 
Coventry North Regeneration Limited (CNR) 

NCH holds 100% of the shares (value £nil) in Coventry North Regeneration Limited (CNR) and has 100% of the voting rights. CNR is included within the 
Council's group accounts as a subsidiary. The Council is fully responsible for meeting any accumulated deficits or losses of the company. 
 
Coombe Abbey Park Limited (CAPL) 

Coventry City Council holds 100% of the shares (value £11.4m) in CAPL. CAPL is included within the Council's group accounts as a subsidiary. The Council is 
fully responsible for meeting any accumulated deficits or losses of the company. 
 
Friargate JV Project Ltd (FJVP) 
 
FJVP was incorporated on 17th December 2018. This is a 50/50 joint venture with Friargate Holdings 2 Limited, established to develop new buildings within the 
Friargate district of the city. Each of, Coventry City Council and Friargate Holdings 2 Ltd have been issued 1 Ordinary Share for a value of £10m each. The 
Council has appointed three of its officers as directors of the board. 
 
Related Party Transactions 

Details of related party transactions are provided in section 3.10. 
 
  

4.9 Notes to the Group Balance Sheet  
 
Where there is no material difference between the Single Entity Accounts and the Group Accounts, no new additional notes have been provided therefore, 
reference should be made to section 3 'Notes to the Main Financial Statements' for information. 
 
The group balance sheet excludes the long term investments of £57,000k in CSWDC, £2,703k in NCH, £11,359k in CAPL and £10,495 in FJVP as included in 
the single entity accounts. 
 
Capital Adjustment Account - Reflects £33.189m original grant investment in North Coventry Holdings Ltd and Coventry North Regeneration Ltd.  
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Unusable Reserves  
 
CSWDC – The Council’s investment of £57,000k in CSWDC has been excluded from the group Financial Instrument Revaluation Reserve. 
 
NCH – The Council’s investment of £2,703k in NCH has been excluded from the group Financial Instrument Revaluation Reserve. 
 
CAPL – The Council’s initial investment in CAPL of £2,212k has been removed from the group Financial Instrument Revaluation Reserve. 
The recent purchase of the remaining interest in CAPL of £9,147k has been excluded from the group Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
FJVP – The Council’s investment of £10,495k in FJVP has been excluded from the group Financial Instrument Revaluation Reserve. 
 

 
 
Additional information relating to subsidiaries and joint ventures, including net assets and results, and where accounts of the companies may be acquired are 
included in note 3.35 to the single entity accounts.
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5  Statement of Accounting Policies 
 

5.1 General  
 
The Statement of Accounts summarises the 
Council's transactions for the 2018/19 financial 
year and its position at the year-end of 31st 

March 2019. It has been prepared in 
accordance with the Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2018/19 – Based on International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS). The accounting 
convention adopted is historical cost, modified 
by the revaluation of certain categories of 
tangible fixed assets.  

 

5.2 Significant Assumptions made in estimating Assets and Liabilities 

The Authority's Balance Sheet contains some 
estimated figures that are based on 
assumptions. Some of these assumptions have 
a significant risk of resulting in material 
adjustments within the next financial year. The 
items in the Authority's Balance Sheet for which 
there is a significant risk are: 
 
Pensions Liability - This liability has increased 
to £554m at the end of the 2018/19 financial 
year. Estimation of the net pension liability to 
pay pensions depends on a number of complex 
judgements relating to the discount rate used, 

the rate at which salaries are projected to 
increase, changes in retirement ages, mortality 
rates and expected returns on pension fund 
assets. New information can lead to changes to 
these judgments, which could lead to material 
adjustments. During 2018/19 the updating of 
data and assumptions by the Council's 
actuaries has led to a net liability increase of 
£12m. 
 
Asset Valuations – Valuations are undertaken 
on the basis of a five year rolling programme 
with investment properties being revalued on a 

more regular basis. This is supplemented by 
annual reviews to reflect significant changes in 
market values. The valuations are heavily 
assumption sensitive and are influenced by 
economic and financial circumstances which 
can change significantly from year to year. An 
increase of 1% in the average valuation of 
assets would have the effect of increasing the 
carrying value of these assets by approximately 
£10m with a corresponding increase in the level 
of unusable reserves.

 

5.3 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 
 
In applying the Authority's accounting policies, 
management has had to make some 
judgements other than those involving 
estimations. The judgements made in this 
Statement of Accounts that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements are as follows: 
 
Treatment of Schools in the Council's 
Accounts 

The material assets and revenue transactions 
of community, foundation and voluntary 
controlled schools are reflected in these 
accounts. The revenue transactions of 
voluntary aided schools have also been 
included; however the land and buildings used 
by these schools are not included on the 
balance sheet. This treatment is based on the 
fact that these land and buildings are not under 
the Council's ownership, the Council has no 
legal agreement with the relevant Dioceses in 
respect of them, and there are no obligations 

to/from the Dioceses in respect of them. The 
Dioceses also have the right to terminate the 
Council’s occupation of the relevant land and 
buildings. Neither the revenue transactions nor 
the assets of academy schools are reflected 
within the accounts. 
 
 
 
The Better Care Fund 
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Coventry City Council and Coventry and Rugby 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) drew up 
an agreement to operate a Better Care Fund 
(BCF) pooled budget from 1st April 2015, with 
the purpose of further integrating the health and 
social care services within Coventry. Note 3.11 
details the respective contributions to the 
pooled budget during 2018/19 and the 
respective expenditure made by the two partner 
organisations. The BCF agreement included 
details of the working relationships that were 

envisaged at the time, including management 
and control of expenditure decisions. However, 
the details of the expenditure identified in note 
3.11 have been determined by applying 
principles of ‘substance over form’ in which the 
level of expenditure allocated to each partner 
reflects the actual degree of control and 
influence over that spend during the year (the 
'substance') rather than allocating it on the 
basis of the control and influence outlined in the 
BCF agreement (the 'form'). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

5.4 Accounting standards issued, but not yet adopted  
 
The Council is required to disclose information relating to the impact of any accounting changes that will be required by new standards that have been issued 
but not yet adopted in the CIPFA Code of Practice. The accounting standards that are to be introduced in the 2019/20 Code include: 
 

• Amendments to IAS 40 Investment Property: Transfers of Investment Property 

• IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration 

• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

• Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation 
 

These changes are not expected to have a material impact on the Council’s single entity statements or group statements. 

5.5 Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
IFRS9 Financial Instruments has been adopted with effect from 1st April 2018. The standard impacts on the classification, remeasurement and impairment of 
financial instruments, and the consequent accounting treatment. Further details are set out in sections 3.34 Financial Instruments, 3.22 Long Term Debtors and 
3.21 Long Term Investments, as well as below within the accounting policies. The Council has made use of the transitional provisions in IFRS9 not to restate 
prior year’s financial statements. However, the impact of the remeasurement of instruments as at 1st April 2018 is included in section 3.34. 
 
The Council has incorporated the requirements of IFRS 15 Recognition from Contracts with Customers within its accounting policy for accruals of income and 
expenditure below. Adopting this policy has not led to any changes in the timing of income recognition within the 2018/19 accounts. 
 
The Council has incorporated the requirements of IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts within its accounting policy for provisions below. ‘IFRS4 Insurance Contracts’ 
requires an insurer (in this case the Council) to assess at the end of each reporting period whether its recognised insurance liabilities are adequate under its 
insurance contracts. This has been applied specifically in relation to pension guarantees provided by the Council to a number of organisations that have been 
admitted to the West Midlands Pension Fund. The Council has considered the probability of the guarantees being called and is satisfied that they do not 
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represent a significant potential liability for the Council in the form of a provision. Therefore there is no recognition in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 

 

5.6 Accounting Policies – Categories 
 
Section 5.7 provides details of the accounting policies that the Council has applied in reporting its financial position in these accounts. The policies are 
separated into the following categories:  
 

 
  

Accruals of Income and Expenditure

Provisions

Reserves

Property, Plant & Equipment, Investment Property and Assets Held for Sale

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute

Government Grants and Contributions

Value Added Tax (VAT)

Investments

Financial Instruments

Leases

Employee Benefits

Professional and Other Support Services

Private Finance Initiative

Group Accounts

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Contingent Liabilities

Contingent Assets

Tax Income

Joint Operations

Events after the Balance Sheet Date

Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies & Estimates & Errors
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5.7 Accounting Policies  
 
Accruals of Income and Expenditure 

Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or received. In particular: 

• Fees, charges and rents due from customers are accounted for at the date the Council provides the relevant goods or satisfies the relevant service 
obligations. 

• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap between the date supplies are received and their consumption, 
they are carried as stocks on the balance sheet. 

• Works are charged as expenditure when they are completed, before which they are carried as assets under construction on the balance sheet. 

• Interest payable on borrowings and receivable on investments is accounted for on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial 
instrument rather than the cash flow fixed or determined by the contract. 

• Where income and expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in 
the balance sheet.  Where it is doubtful that debts will be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income 
that might not be collected. 

• Income relating to Council Tax and Business Rates is measured at the full amount receivable (net of any impairment losses) as they are non-
contractual, non-exchange transactions. 

The Council has a de-minimis threshold of £5,000 for revenue accruals of income and expenditure that are not system generated. This threshold is applied for 
10 working days following the end of the financial year, after which a draft outturn position is circulated to managers. To avoid small fluctuations in this outturn 
position the threshold is lifted to £50k (working days 11-20) and £500k thereafter. 
 
Provisions 

Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council an obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits 
that can be reliably measured, but where the timing of the transfer is uncertain.  For instance, the Council may be involved in a court case that could eventually 
result in the making of a settlement or the payment of compensation. 
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service revenue account in the year that the authority becomes aware of the obligation, based on the 
best estimate of the likely settlement.  When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision set up in the balance sheet.  Estimated 
settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes more likely than not that a transfer of economic benefits will not now be required 
(or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service revenue account. 
 
Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be met by another party (e.g. from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as 
income in the relevant service revenue account if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the obligation is settled. 
 
An assessment is made as to whether the liabilities incurred through insurance contracts (including pension guarantees) are adequately recognised in the 
accounts. 
 
Reserves  

The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover contingencies.  Reserves are created by appropriating amounts out 
of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the 
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appropriate service category within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  The reserve is then appropriated back into the General Fund 
Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement, so that there is no net charge against Council Tax for the expenditure. 

Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial instruments, retirement and employee benefits and do not 
represent usable resources for the Council. These reserves are explained in the relevant policies below. 
Property, Plant & Equipment, Investment Property and Assets Held for Sale 

 
Property, Plant & Equipment - Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the provision of services or for administrative purposes on a 
continuing basis. 
 
Investment Property - Assets held solely to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation purposes. 
 
Assets Held for Sale - This is a classification for property assets that are being actively marketed for sale, likely to be completed within 12 months of 
classification. 
 
Recognition - Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Non-Current Assets is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it yields 
benefits to the Council and the services that it provides for more than one financial year. Expenditure that secures but does not extend the previously assessed 
standards of performance of an asset (e.g. repairs and maintenance) is charged to revenue as it is incurred. The de minimis policy for capital expenditure is 
£20,000 for construction/acquisitions and nil for enhancement expenditure and vehicles. 
 
Donated assets transferred to the Council are recognised immediately at fair value together with income in the Consolidated Income and Expenditure 
Statement, to the extent that any associated conditions of the transfer have been met. Where conditions have yet to be met the Donated Assets account is 
credited with deferred income, which is the transferred to the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Statement once the conditions have been satisfied. 
 
Measurement - Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising all expenditure that is directly attributable to bringing the asset into working condition for its 
intended use.  After recognition, assets are then carried in the balance sheet using the following measurement bases: 
 

 
 
Property valuations have been performed by RICS (Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors) qualified internal valuers in accordance with RICS valuation 
standards. The methods and significant assumptions applied in estimating the value of assets included in the balance sheet at fair value are: 

Asset Type Measurement Type

Other Land and Buildings Current Value (Existing Use)

Surplus Properties Fair Value

Vehicles, Plant & Equipment Depreciated Historical Cost

Infrastructure Depreciated Historical Cost

Community Assets Historical Cost

Heritage Assets Historical Cost/Valuation

Assets under Construction Historical Cost

Investment Property Fair Value

Assets Held for Sale Fair Value
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• The amount for which an asset could be exchanged, between knowledgeable, willing parties, in an arms’ length transaction (with reference to 
observable prices in an active market or recent market transactions on arms’ length terms); 

• Fair value equates to market value; 

• Land and Buildings other than surplus properties are valued using the Existing Use Value method; 

• Specialised assets with no market-based evidence of fair value were valued using the depreciated replacement cost (DRC) method; 

• For non-property assets that have short useful lives and/or low values, the depreciated historical cost has been used as a proxy for fair value; 

• Investment property assets are measured initially at cost, i.e. purchase price and transaction costs, and then subsequently at fair value at the end of the 
reporting period, assessing their value at highest and best use. This value is derived from the capitalisation of an income stream at a yield derived from 
market evidence. 

 
All fair value measurements are classified at level 2 in the Fair Value Hierarchy. 
 
PPE assets are subsequently valued at current value on the basis recommended by the Code of Practice on LA accounting and in accordance with RICS 
standards. 
 
Assets included in the balance sheet at fair value are revalued where there have been material changes in the value, but as a minimum every five years, except 
Assets Held for Sale which are valued annually and Investment Properties, of which the 50 with the highest values are valued annually and the remainder at 
least every 3 years. With the exception of Investment Property, where changes to fair value are taken to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, 
valuation increases to other fair value assets are recognised in the Revaluation Reserve except when the increase is reversing a previous decrease charged to 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services on the same asset. Similarly, for all fair value assets except Investment Property and Assets Held for Sale, 
revaluation decreases are recognised in the Revaluation Reserve up to the amount in the Revaluation Reserve for each respective asset and thereafter in 
Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services. For Investment Property and Assets Held for Sale, valuation decreases are recognised in Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services. 
 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital 
Adjustment Account.  
 
Componentisation - Property, Plant and Equipment assets (above a materiality threshold of £1.5m) are considered for componentisation when they are either 
acquired, enhanced or revalued. A component will only be considered and assessed separately if it has a different asset life from the rest of the asset, and if the 
current gross replacement cost of the component is greater than 25% of the current gross replacement cost of the asset. 
 
Heritage Assets - Assets held principally for their contribution to knowledge and culture, and recognised where information on the cost or value is available. 
Where the cost or value is not available, and the cost of obtaining the information outweighs the benefits to readers of the financial statements, the assets have 
not been recognised but addressed in a separate disclosure. Heritage assets that have been included in the financial statements at valuation are based on 
external or internal insurance valuations. 
 
Schools Assets - The following table details how the authority accounts for different types of non-current schools assets, determined on the basis of whether it 
holds or controls rights and obligations in relation to them. 
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* Voluntary Controlled and Foundation school fixed assets are recognised on the basis that overall control, and the associated economic benefits, can ultimately 
flow to the City Council. 
 
When a school that is held on the Council's Balance Sheet transfers to Academy status the Council accounts for this as a derecognition. The resultant loss is 
charged to Other Operating Expenditure in the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Impairment - Under the IFRS Code, all impairment losses are taken initially to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is a balance on that reserve 
relating to the specific asset. Any further losses (or if there is no balance on the revaluation reserve) are taken to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  
 
Disposals - When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the value of the asset in the balance sheet is revalued to the sale value, so we no longer 
recognise the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services as part of the gain or loss on disposal.  
 
The balance of receipts is required to be credited to the Usable Capital Receipts Reserve, and can then only be used for new capital investment or set aside to 
reduce the Council's underlying need to borrow (the capital financing requirement). The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the 
cost of Non-Current Assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. 
 
Depreciation - Depreciation is provided for on all assets with a determinable finite life (except for land, community assets, heritage assets and non-operational 
properties), by allocating the value of the asset in the balance sheet over the periods expected to benefit from their use. Depreciation is calculated on the 
following basis: 
 

  
 
 
 
 

School Type Recognised in the accounts

Community Yes

Voluntary Controlled Yes*

Voluntary Aided No

Foundation Yes*

Academy No

Asset Type Period of Years

Operational Buildings 50 years (less if there is evidence to the contrary)

Vehicles, Plant & Equipment Estimated Useful Life

Infrastructure 40 years

Land Depreciation not charged

Community Assets Depreciation not charged

Heritage Assets Depreciation not charged

Non-Operational Assets Depreciation not charged
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Intangible Assets 

Are those assets that do not have a physical substance and are identifiable and controlled by the council e.g. software licenses. The balance is amortised fully 
in the year of investment. Unless identified otherwise, assets have been acquired separately and the asset lives are finite. It is not possible to quantify exactly 
how much of the amortisation is attributable to each service heading on the income statement. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 

Legislation allows for some expenditure, for example grants and expenditure on property not owned by the authority, to be classified as capital for funding 
purposes when it does not result in the expenditure being carried as an asset on the Balance Sheet. Expenditure that falls into this category has been charged 
to Cost of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  Where the council has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from 
existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged in the Adjustments between 
Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulation so there is no impact on the level of Council Tax. 
 
Government Grants and Contributions 

Government grants and contributions are recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when there is reasonable assurance that the 
payment will be received and conditions will be satisfied. Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential embodied 
in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential 
must be returned. 
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in the balance sheet as a liability, either within creditors or 
within the Capital Grants Receipts in Advance (for Capital grants).  
 
When conditions are satisfied (or none exist) the grant or contribution is credited to the relevant service line (for attributable revenue grants and contributions) or 
to 'Taxation and non-Specific Grant Income' (for non-ringfenced grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Capital grant (without conditions) that is yet to be used to finance capital expenditure is posted to the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve. When capital grant is 
applied to finance capital expenditure it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
 
Value Added Tax (VAT) 

VAT payable is included as an expense within the accounts only to the extent that elements are irrecoverable from Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs and 
therefore charged to service expenditure. VAT receivable is excluded from income. 
 
Investments 

The Council has material interests in companies and other entities that have the nature of subsidiaries and joint ventures and require it to prepare group 
accounts.  In the Council's own single entity accounts, the interests in companies and other entities are classified as Long Term Investments and valued at fair 
value. 
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Financial Instruments 

Financial Liabilities 
Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and carried at their amortised cost.  Annual charges to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised. 
For most of the borrowings that the Council has, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable and interest 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year in the loan agreement. 
 
Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and debited to Net Operating Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year of repurchase/settlement.  However, where repurchase has taken place as part of a restructuring of the loan portfolio that 
involves the modification or exchange of existing instruments, the premium or discount is respectively deducted from or added to the amortised cost of the new 
or modified loan and the write-down to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is spread over the life of the loan by an adjustment to the 
effective interest rate. 
 
Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, regulations allow the impact on the General 
Fund Balance to be spread over future years.  The Council has a policy of spreading the gain/loss over the term that was remaining on the loan against which 
the premium was payable or discount receivable when it was repaid, subject to a 10 year limit set in the case of a discount, as required by capital finance 
regulations.  The reconciliation of amounts charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the net charge required against the General 
Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial Instruments Adjustment Account in the Statement of Adjustments between Accounting Basis 
and Funding Basis under Regulation. 
 
Borrowing costs, in the form of interest expenses, are capitalised where the asset in question is a qualifying asset and takes a substantial period of time to bring 
into operation.  Borrowing costs will only be capitalised on schemes for which expenditure is incurred over a period of more than 12 months, until the asset is 
operationally complete, and where a material level of capital expenditure is resourced by borrowing. 
 
Financial Assets 
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects the business model for holding the financial assets and their 
cashflow characteristics. There are three main classes of financial assets measured at: 
 

• amortised cost, where cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest and the Council’s business model is to collect those cash flows; 

• fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), where cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest and the Council’s business 
model is to both collect those cash flows and sell the instrument; and equity investments that the Council has elected into this category; 

• fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), all other financial assets. 
 
The authority’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows. Financial assets are therefore classified as amortised cost, except for 
those whose contractual payments are not solely payment of principal and interest (ie where the cash flows do not take the form of a basic debt instrument). 
 
Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a 
financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits to the Financing and 
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Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest receivable are based on the carrying 
amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the financial assets held by the authority, this means that the 
amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the CIES is the amount receivable 
for the year in the loan agreement.  
 
Where loans to organisations are made at less than market rates these are classified as soft loans, in which case a loss is recorded in the CIES (debited to the 
appropriate service) for the present value of the interest that will be foregone over the life of the instrument, resulting in a lower amortised cost than the 
outstanding principal. Interest is credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES at a marginally higher effective rate of 
interest than the rate receivable from the voluntary organisations, with the difference serving to increase the amortised cost of the loan in the Balance Sheet. 
Statutory provisions require that the impact of soft loans on the General Fund Balance is the interest receivable for the financial year – the reconciliation of 
amounts debited and credited to the CIES to the net gain required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
CIES. 
 
Expected Credit Loss Model  
The authority recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets held at amortised cost, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit 
loss model also applies to lease receivables and contract assets. Only lifetime losses are recognised for trade receivables (debtors) held by the authority. 
 
Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might not take place because the borrower could default on their 
obligations. Credit risk plays a crucial part in assessing losses. Where risk has increased significantly since an instrument was initially recognised, losses are 
assessed on a lifetime basis. Where risk has not increased significantly or remains low, losses are assessed on the basis of 12-month expected losses. Where 
reasonable and supportable information that is not available without undue cost or effort to support the measurement of lifetime expected losses on an 
individual instrument basis, losses are assessed on a collective basis. 
 
Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value 
Financial assets that are measured at Fair Value through Profit of Loss (FVPL) are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the authority becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured and carried at fair value.  
 
Where equity instruments are expected to be held for the long-term, the Council may make an irrevocable election upon initial recognition to present changes in 
their fair value in Other Comprehensive Income. The Council elected to present changes in the fair value of the following equity investments in other 
comprehensive income as permitted by IFRS9: 

• Birmingham Airport Holdings Ltd 

• Coventry Solihull Waste Disposal Co (CSWDC) 

• Coombe Abbey Park Ltd 

• North Coventry Holdings Ltd 

• Coventry North Regeneration Ltd 

• University of Warwick Science Park Business Innovation Centre Ltd 

• UK Battery Industrialisation Centre Ltd 

• Friargate JV Project Limited 

• Threadneedle Strategic Bond Fund 
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• Investec Diversified Income Fund 

• M&G Optimal Income Sterling 

• M&G Strategic Corporate Bond Fund Sterling 

• M&G UK Income Distribution Fund Sterling 

• Schroder Income Maximiser 

Fair value gains and losses on such instruments are held in the Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve and transferred to the General Fund when the 
instrument is derecognised though sale or write off. Dividend income from these instruments is recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 
when the Council’s right to receive payment is established and its value can be measured reliably. Fair value gains and losses are recognised as they arrive in 
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services.  
 
The fair value measurements of the financial assets are based on the following principles: 

• Instruments with quoted market prices – the market price: 

• Other instruments with fixed and determinable payments – discounted cash flow analysis: 

• Equity shares with no quoted market prices – based on multiple earnings & net asset valuation techniques and historic costs where appropriate. 
 
Where assets are identified as impaired because of a likelihood arising from a past event that payments due under the contract will not be made, the asset is 
written down and a charge made to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of the asset are credited/debited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, along with any 
accumulated gains/losses. 
 
Where fair value cannot be measured reliably, the instrument is carried at cost (less any impairment losses). 
 
Financial instruments are categorised by their level in the fair value hierarchy. 
 
Leases 

Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the Property, 
Plant or Equipment from the lessor to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
Where a lease covers both land and buildings, the land and buildings elements are considered separately for classification. 
 
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return for payment are accounted for under this policy where 
fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of specific assets. 
 
The Authority as Lessee - Finance Leases - Property, Plant and Equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the 
commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease's inception (or the present value of the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset 
recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the Authority are added to the carrying amount of the asset. 
Premiums paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease liability. Contingent rents are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are 
incurred. 



 

128 

 
 
Lease payments are apportioned between: 

• a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment - applied to write down the lease liability, and 

• a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement). 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation 
being charged over the lease term if this is shorter than the asset's estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does not transfer to the authority at the 
end of the lease period). 
 
The Authority is not required to raise Council Tax to cover depreciation or revaluation and impairment losses arising on leased assets. Instead, a prudent annual 
contribution is made from the revenue funds towards the deemed capital investment in accordance with statutory requirements. Depreciation, revaluation and 
impairment losses are therefore substituted by a revenue contribution in the General Fund Balance, by the way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital 
Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two. 
 
The Authority as Lessee – Operating Leases - Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased Property, Plant or Equipment. Charges are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a rent-free period at the commencement of the lease). 
 
The Authority as Lessor - Finance Leases - Where the Authority grants a finance lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the relevant asset is 
written out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. At the commencement of the lease, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet (whether Property, 
Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal) matched by lease (long-term debtor) 
asset in the Balance Sheet. 
 
Lease rentals receivable are apportioned between: 

• a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property - applied to write down the lease debtor (together with any premiums received), and 

• finance income (credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement) 
 
The gain credited to the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement on disposal is not permitted by statute to increase the General Fund Balance and is 
required to be treated as a capital receipt, subject to the requirements of the capital finance regulations. Where a premium has been received, this is posted out 
of the General Fund Balance to the Capital Receipts Reserve in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Where the amount due in relation to the lease asset is to 
be settled by payment of rentals in future financial years, this is posted out of the General Fund Balance to the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve in the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. When the future rentals are received, the element for the capital receipt for the disposal of the asset is used to write down 
the lease debtor. At this point, the deferred capital receipts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve. 
 
The written-off value of disposals is not a charge against Council Tax, as the cost of fixed assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital 
financing. Amounts are therefore appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
The Authority as Lessor - Operating Leases - Where the Authority grants an operating lease over a property or an item of plant or equipment, the asset is 
retained in the Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
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Credits are made on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not match the pattern of payments (e.g. there is a premium paid at the 
commencement of the lease). Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging the lease are added to the carrying amount of the relevant asset and 
charged as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. 
 
Employee Benefits - Payable during Employment   

Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They include such benefits as salaries and paid annual leave and 
are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render the service to the Authority. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday or leave 
entitlements earned by employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is charged to 
the relevant service line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, but then reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement, so that 
holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.  

 
Employee Benefits - Post-Employment Benefits – Pensions 

 
Teaching Staff - Teachers may be members of the Teachers Pension Scheme, which is administered by the Department of Education.  It is a defined benefit 
scheme.  However, as the authority's share of the underlying assets and liabilities cannot be identified, it is treated as a defined contribution scheme.  The 
pension costs charged to the accounts are the employer’s contributions payable to the Teachers’ Pension Scheme. 
 
Former NHS Staff - Staff who transferred to the City Council on 1st April 2013 may be members of the NHS Pension Scheme, which is administered by the 
NHS Business Services Authority.  It is a defined benefit scheme.  However, as the authority's share of the underlying assets and liabilities cannot be identified, 
it is treated as a defined contribution scheme.  The pension costs charged to the accounts are the employer’s contributions payable to the NHS Pension 
Scheme.  
 
Other Staff - Non-teaching staff may be members of the defined benefit Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).  Coventry contributes to the West 
Midlands Pension Fund, which is administered by Wolverhampton City Council.  
 
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate based on current market yields on high quality corporate bonds. 
 
The assets of the West Midlands Pension Fund attributable to the council are included in the balance sheet at their fair value: 

• Quoted securities – bid price. 

• Unquoted securities – professional estimate. 

• Unitised securities – average of the bid and offer rates. 

• Property – market value. 
 
The change in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 
 

• Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year – debited in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement to the revenue accounts of services for which the employees worked. 

• Past service cost – the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited 
to the Cost of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of Non Distributed Costs. 
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• Interest on pension liabilities – the expected increase in the present value of liabilities during the year as they move one year closer to being paid – 
debited to Finance and Investment Income and Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

• Interest on pension assets – the annual investment return on the fund assets attributable to the Council, based on an average of the expected long-term 
return – credited to Finance and Investment Income and Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

• Gains/losses on settlements and curtailments – settlements which relieve the Council of liabilities or events that reduce the expected future service or 
accrual of benefits of employees and curtailments which increase the liabilities in respect of past service – included within the Cost of Services in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of Non Distributed Costs. 

• Re-measurements – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial 
valuation or because the actuaries have updated their assumptions – included within Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure, and transferred to 
the Pension Reserve. 

• Employer contributions paid to the West Midlands Pension Fund – cash paid as employer's contributions to the pension fund in settlement of liabilities; 
not accounted for as an expense. 

• Administration Expenses - debited to the Cost of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Statutory provisions limit the Council to raising council tax to cover the amounts payable by the Council to the pension fund in the year.  In the Adjustments 
between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulation there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and 
credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and any amounts payable to the fund but unpaid at the year-
end. 
 
Discretionary Employee Benefits 

The Council also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as 
a result of an award to any member of staff (including teachers) are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for using the same 
policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme.  
 
Overheads and Support Services 

The costs of overheads and support services are charged to service segments in accordance with the authority’s arrangements for accountability and financial 
performance. 
 
Private Finance Initiatives (PFI) 

Under IFRIC 12, the PFI arrangements have been classified and accounted for as 'service concessions', recognising the finance leases under IAS 17 'Leases'. 
PFI and similar contracts are agreements to receive services, where the responsibility for making available the fixed assets needed to provide the services 
passes to the PFI contractor. As the Council is deemed to control the services that are provided under the PFI schemes and as ownership of the fixed asset will 
pass to the Council at the end of the contract for no additional charge, the Council carries the fixed asset used under the contracts on the Balance Sheet.  
The original recognition of the asset is balanced by the recognition of a liability for amounts due to the scheme operator to pay for the assets. 
 
The amounts payable to the PFI operators each year are analysed into the following five elements: 

• Fair Value of the services received during the year (charged to the relevant service area); 

• Finance Costs (interest charged on the outstanding Balance Sheet liability); 
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• Contingent Rent (increases in the amount to be paid for the asset arising during the contract); 

• Payment towards liability (writing down the Balance Sheet liability towards the PFI contractor); 

• Lifecycle replacement costs (recognised as fixed assets on the Balance Sheet). 
 
Group Accounts 

The Council has interests in companies and other entities. Where these interests are material, and satisfy one of the criteria tests: that the Council has control, 
either individually or jointly with another party; or has significant influence over the entity, then group accounts will be prepared in accordance with the IFRS 
based Code of Practice. In the Council's own single entity accounts, the interests in companies and other entities are classified as Long Term Investments 
(available-for-sale assets) and valued at fair value. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Council identifies 'cash and cash equivalents' as the total of cash in hand, bank current account balances and investments repayable on call. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 

A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the authority a possible obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the 
occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the authority. 
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to 
the accounts. 
 
Contingent Assets 

A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or 
otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Council. Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a 
note to the accounts where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential. 
 
Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates 

Coventry City Council is a billing authority that acts as an agent, collecting council tax and non-domestic rates (NDR) on behalf of the major preceptors and 
central government, and as a principal collecting council tax and NDR for the Council itself. Billing authorities are required by statute to maintain a separate fund 
(the Collection Fund) for the collection and distribution of amounts due in respect of council tax and NDR. Billing authorities, major preceptors and central 
government share proportionally the risks and rewards that these amounts could be less or more than predicted. The difference between the income from 
Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates that is included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the amount required by regulation to be 
credited to the General Fund is taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account and reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Joint Operations 

Joint Operations are arrangements where parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities relating to 
the arrangement. In relation to its interest in a joint operation, the Authority recognises its share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 
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Schools 

In accordance with the Code of Practice the balance of control for local authority maintained schools lies with the local authority. Therefore schools’ transactions 
and balances are recognised in each of the single entity financial statements of the authority as if they were those of the authority. 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet date 

Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when 
the Statement of Accounts is authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified: 
 
Adjusting Events 
Those events that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events. 
 
Non-adjusting Events 
Those events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but, where 
a category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and either their estimated financial effect or a 
statement that such an estimate cannot be made reliably. 
 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts. 
 
Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors 

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted 
for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about 
the effect of transactions, other events and conditions on the Council’s financial position or financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied 
retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been 
applied. 
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
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6 Glossary of Terms 
 
Accruals 
An accounting principle that recognises income and expenditure as they are earned or incurred, not as money is received or paid. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
These are predictions made for factors that will affect the financial condition of the pension scheme. 
 
Amortisation 
The gradual write off of initial costs of intangible assets. 
 
Bad Debt Provision 
Bad debts are amounts owed to the Council which it does not believe will ever be paid back to them.  The Council makes a provision for the amount of bad debt 
it expects to occur. 
 
Business Rates 
Business rates is a tax that is paid by the occupiers of all business properties. The income raised helps to pay for local services. 
 
Capital Contract 
This is a contract the Council has with a company to carry out major building or construction work that will take a significant amount of time. 
 
Capital Adjustment Account 
The account which reflects the extent to which the City Council's resources have been applied to finance capital expenditure and to meet future debt redemption 
or other credit liabilities. 
 
Capital Receipts 
Income received from selling fixed assets. 
 
CIPFA 
This is the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy.  This is an institute that represents accounting in the Public Sector. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
These are amounts that the Council may be, but is not definitely, liable for. 
 
Council Tax 
A tax paid by residents of the city that is based on the value of the property lived in and is paid to the Council and spent on local services. 
 
Creditors 
These are people or organisations which the Council owes money to for work, goods or services which have not been paid for by the end of the financial year. 
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Current Assets 
These are assets that are held for a short period of time, for example cash in the bank, stocks and debtors. 
 
Debtors 
Sums of money owed to the City Council but not received at the end of the year. 
 
Depreciation 
The amount an asset has dropped in value is the amount it has been judged to have depreciated. Accountants use depreciation to demonstrate how much of a 
fixed asset value has been used and therefore lowered during a financial year, for example because of wear and tear. 
 
Donated Assets 

Assets transferred at nil value or acquired at less than fair value. 

Earmarked Reserves 
Money set aside for a specific purpose. 
 
Fair Value 
The amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction. 
 
Finance Lease 
A lease is a financial agreement to pay for an asset, for example a vehicle, in regular instalments. If the person paying the lease owns the asset then this is 
known as a finance lease (see also operating lease). 
 
Financial Instrument 
Any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 
 
Financial Year 
Runs from 1st April through to the following 31st March. 
 
Fixed Assets 
Tangible assets that give benefit to the City Council and the services it provides for more than one year. 
 
Heritage assets 
Are held by the authority principally for their contribution to knowledge and culture. 
 
IFRS 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Impairment 
An asset has been impaired when it is judged to have lost value. 
 



 

135 

Intangible Assets 
An item which does not have physical substance (e.g. software license) but can be identified and used by the Council over a number of years. 
 
Inventories 
Goods owned by the Council which have not been used by the end of the financial year. 
 
Investment Properties 
Interest in land and/or buildings which are held for their investment potential rather than for operational purposes. 
 
LASAAC 
This is the Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory Committee which shares responsibility with CIPFA for determining the accounting Code of Practice.   
 
Liabilities 
Amounts due to individuals or organisations which will have to be paid at some time in the future. Current liabilities are usually payable within one year of the 
Balance Sheet date. 
 
Liquid Resources 
Current asset investments held as readily disposable stores of value, either readily convertible into cash, or traded in an active market. 
 
Levy 
A payment made by the Council to another local service, for example: local transport; and the environment agency. 
 
Market Value of Assets 
This is the price that an asset can currently be bought or sold at. 
 
Materiality 
An item is material if its inclusion in the accounts has the ability to influence the decision or change the judgement of a reasonable person. 
 
Movement in Reserves Statement (MIRS) 
A core statement showing the movement in the year on different reserves held by the Council, analysed into 'usable reserves' and 'unusable reserves'. 
 
Net asset value 
The value of the Council's assets less its liabilities. 
 
Net Book Value (NBV) 
The value of an asset after depreciation has been deducted. 
 
Operating Leases 
A lease is a financial agreement to pay for an asset, for example a vehicle, in regular instalments. If the person paying the lease does not own the asset then 
this is known as an operating lease. In this case the person is paying to borrow an asset (see also Finance Leases). 
 
Precept 
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A payment to the Council's General Fund, or another Local Authority, from the Council's Collection Fund. 
 
Prior Year Adjustments 
These are changes made to the previous year's accounts to show things that were not known until after the prior year accounts were produced. 
 
Provisions 
Money set aside for a debt that will arise in the future i.e. a known insurance claim. 
 
Revaluation Reserve 
The account that reflects the amount by which the value of the City Council's assets has been revised following revaluation or disposal. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded From Capital Under Statute 
Expenditure on grants or property not owned by the authority that may properly be classified as capital for funding purposes, but does not result in an asset 
owned by the Council. 
 
Revenue Support Grant (RSG) 
A grant from Central Government towards the cost of providing services. 
 
SOLACE 
This is the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives and Senior Managers. It is a representative body for senior strategic managers working in the public 
sector. 
 
Specific Revenue Grants 
Grants received from Central Government in respect of specific services. 
 
Work in Progress 
If the Council is in the process of constructing an asset at the time when the accounts are prepared the value of this work is shown in the accounts as 'Assets 
Under Construction'.  
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7 Audit Certificate 
 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Coventry City Council 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinion 
 

Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified 
We have audited the financial statements of Coventry City Council (the ‘Authority’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 March 2019 which comprise the 
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement, the Movement in Reserves Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, the Collection Fund Statement, the 
Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account, the Group Movement in Reserves Statement, the Group Balance Sheet, the Group Cash Flow Statement and 
notes to the financial statements, including a Statement of Accounting Policies. The notes to the financial statements include the notes to the main financial statements on 
pages 36 to 103, notes to the collection fund statement on pages 105 to 106, notes to the group accounts on pages 107 and 113 to 116 and Statement of Accounting 
Policies on pages 117 to 132. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on 
local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements: 
 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the group and of the Authority as at 31 March 2019 and of the group’s expenditure and income and the Authority’s 
expenditure and income for the year then ended;  
 
• have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local 
authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19; and 
 
• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014. 

 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the group and the Authority in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where: 
 
• the Director of Finance and Corporate Services’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or 

 
• the Director of Finance and Corporate Service has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the group’s 
or the Authority’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue. 
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Overview of our audit approach 
 
Financial statements audit 

• Overall materiality: £14,000,000, which represents approximately 1.8% of the group’s gross expenditure 

• Key audit matters were identified as: 

- Valuation of property, plant and equipment (other land and 
buildings); and 
- Valuation of the defined benefit net pension liability. 
 
The group comprises six components, of which Coventry City Council is the only individually financially significant component on which a full scope audit was performed. 
We performed audit procedures on material balances and transactions of Coventry and Solihull Waste Disposal Company and analytical procedures on the other non-
significant components of the group. 
 
Conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 
• We identified two significant risks in respect of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources in relation to 
medium term financial sustainability and the capital programme (see Report on other legal and regulatory requirements section). 

 
Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current year and include the most significant assessed risks of 
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those 
that had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and 
directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 

 
Key Audit Matters – Authority  How the matter was addressed in the audit 

Risk 1 - Valuation of property, plant and equipment 
(other land and buildings) 
The Authority revalues its land and buildings at least 
once every five years. Valuation of property, plant and 
equipment represents a significant estimate by 
management in the financial statements (net book value 
of other land and buildings of £441.3 million as at 31 
March 2019). 
We identified the valuation of property, plant and 
equipment (other land and buildings) as a significant 
risk, which was one of the most significant assessed 
risks of material misstatement. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to: 
• evaluating management's processes and 
assumptions for the calculation of the estimate, the 
instructions issued to the Authority’s valuation 
expert and the scope of their work; 
• evaluating the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the valuation expert; 
• writing to the valuer to confirm the basis on which 
the valuations were carried out; 
• challenging the information and assumptions used 
by the Authority’s valuation expert to assess 
completeness and consistency with our 
understanding; 
• testing, on a sample basis, revaluations made 
during the year to ensure they have been input 
correctly into the Authority's asset register; and 
• evaluating the assumptions made by management 
for any assets not revalued during the year and how 
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Key Audit Matters – Authority  How the matter was addressed in the audit 
management has satisfied themselves that these 
are not materially different to current value. 
The Authority’s accounting policy on valuation of 
property, plant and equipment is shown in note 5.7 to 
the financial statements and related disclosures are 
included in notes 3.15 and 3.19. 
Key observations 
The Authority had omitted to undertake revaluations of 
its schools fully in accordance with CIPFA Code 
requirements. Consequently, during the audit the 
Authority obtained an updated valuation of schools from 
their valuer but decided not to amend the financial 
statements for the £1 million reduction in the value of 
school assets on the grounds of materiality. 
Subject to our observations above, we obtained 
sufficient audit evidence to conclude: 
• the basis of the valuation of other land and buildings 
was appropriate, and the assumptions and 
processes used by management in determining the 
estimate were reasonable; and 
• the valuation of the other land and buildings 
disclosed in the financial statements is reasonable. 

 

Risk 2 - Valuation of the defined benefit net pension 
liability 
The Authority’s defined benefit net pension liability 
represents a significant estimate in the financial 
statements. 
The net pension liability is considered a significant 
estimate due to the size of the liability involved (£524.2 
million as at 31 March 2019) and the sensitivity of the 
estimate to changes in key assumptions. 
A recent legal ruling around age discrimination 
(McCloud - Court of Appeal) has implications for the 
local government pension scheme resulting in a 
potential increase in pension fund liabilities. The 
Authority asked its actuary to estimate the value of this 
ruling on its pension liability. 
We therefore identified valuation of the defined benefit 
net pension liability as a significant risk, which was one 
of the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to: 
• updating our understanding of the processes and 
controls put in place by management to ensure that 
the Authority’s net pension liability is not materially 
misstated and evaluating the design of the 
associated controls; 
• evaluating the instructions issued by management 
to their management expert (an actuary) for this 
estimate and the scope of the actuary’s work; 
• assessing the competence, capabilities and 
objectivity of the actuary who carried out the 
Authority’s pension fund valuation; 
• assessing the accuracy and completeness of the 
information provided by the Authority to the actuary 
to estimate the liability; 
• testing the consistency of the pension fund asset 
and liability and disclosures in the notes to the main 
financial statements with the actuarial report from 
the actuary; 
• undertaking procedures to confirm the 
reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made 
by reviewing the report of the consulting actuary (as 
auditor’s expert) and performing any additional 
procedures suggested within the report; 
• obtaining assurances from the auditor of the West 
Midlands Pension Fund relating to the validity and 
accuracy of membership data, contributions data 
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and benefits data sent to the actuary by the pension 
fund and the fund asset valuation in the pension 
fund financial statements; and 

 
Key Audit Matters – Authority  How the matter was addressed in the audit 
• assessing the updated actuary’s report in relation to 
potential adjustments as a result of McCloud and 
using our own internal and external auditor experts 
to assess the reasonableness and validity of the 
assumptions used. . 
The Authority’s accounting policy on valuation of the 
defined benefit net pension liability is shown in note 5.7 
to the financial statements and related disclosures are 
included in notes 3.30 and 3.31. 
Key observations 
The Authority obtained updated valuations from their 
actuary in relation to the McCloud judgement, which 
have increased the Authority’s past service cost and net 
pension liability by £11.8 million. The Authority adjusted 
the net pension liability figure in the balance sheet and 
the group balance sheet in the financial statements on 
audit to reflect this updated valuation. 
Subject to the above adjustment, we obtained sufficient 
audit assurance to conclude that: 
• the basis of the valuations was appropriate, and the 
assumptions and processes used by management in 
determining the estimates were reasonable; 
• the valuation of the net pension liability recognised in 
the financial statements is reasonable. 

 

 
Our application of materiality 
 
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person 
would be changed or influenced. We use materiality in determining the nature, timing and extent of our audit work and in evaluating the results of that work. 
 
Materiality was determined as follows: 

 
Materiality Measure  Group  Authority 

Financial statements as a 
whole 

£14,000,000 which is 1.8% of the group’s 
gross expenditure. This benchmark is 
considered the most appropriate because 
we consider users of the financial 
statements to be most interested in how 
the group has expended its revenue and 
other funding. 
Materiality for the current year is at the 
same percentage level of gross 
expenditure as we determined for the 

£13,800,000 which is 1.8% of the 
Authority’s gross expenditure. This 
benchmark is considered the most 
appropriate because we consider users of 
the financial statements to be most 
interested in how the Authority has 
expended its revenue and other funding. 
Materiality for the current year is at the 
same percentage level of gross 
expenditure as we determined for the 
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year ended 31 March 2018 as we did not 
identify any significant changes in the 
group or the environment in which it 
operates. 

year ended 31 March 2018 as we did not 
identify any significant changes in the 
Authority or the environment in which it 
operates. 

Performance materiality 
used to drive the extent 
of our testing 

75% of financial statement materiality  75% of financial statement materiality 

Specific materiality  .  

We determined a lower level of specific 
materiality for certain areas such as 
senior officer remuneration disclosures 
due to the public interest in these 
disclosures and the statutory requirement 
for these to be made. 

Communication of 
misstatements to the 
Audit and Procurement 
Committee 

£690,000 and misstatements below that 
threshold that, in our view, warrant 
reporting on qualitative grounds. 

£690,000 and misstatements below that 
threshold that, in our view, warrant 
reporting on qualitative grounds. 

 
The graph below illustrates how performance materiality interacts with our overall materiality and the 
tolerance for potential uncorrected misstatements. 

 

 
 
An overview of the scope of our audit 
Our audit approach was a risk-based approach founded on a thorough understanding of the group’s business, is risk based, and in particular included: 

• Gaining an understanding of and evaluating the Authority’s internal controls environment including its financial and IT systems and controls; 
• Evaluation of identified components to assess the significance of each component and to determine the planned audit response based on a measure of materiality and 
significance of the component as a percentage of the group's total income, assets and liabilities. A full scope, targeted or analytical approach was taken for each component 
based on their relative materiality to the group and our assessment of audit risk; 
• Full scope audit procedures on Coventry City Council, the only financially significant component in the group. The Authority’s transactions represent 94% of the group’s income 
and 95% of its total assets; 
• Audit procedures on income and the property, plant and equipment balances of Coventry and Solihull Waste Disposal Company Ltd. This is a non-significant component in the 
group accounts; and represents 4% of the group’s income and 3% of its total assets. 
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• Performing analytical procedures on the other non-significant components in the group accounts: Coventry North Regeneration Limited, North Coventry Holdings Limited, 
Coombe Abbey Park Limited and Friargate JV Project Ltd. These entities in total represent 2% of the group’s income, and 2% of its total assets. 
 

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting 
irregularities, including fraud 
The objectives of our audit are to identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements due to fraud or error; to obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence regarding the assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud or error; and to respond appropriately to those risks. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, 
there is an unavoidable risk that material misstatements in the financial statements may not be detected, even though the audit is properly planned and performed in 
accordance with the ISAs (UK). 
 
In identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement in respect of fraud, including irregularities and non-compliance with laws and regulations, our procedures included the 
following: 
 
• We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks applicable to the Authority and the group and sectors in which they operate. We determined that the 
following laws and regulations were most significant: 
 
- the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 
 
- the Local Government Act 2003 

 
- the Local Government Finance Act 2012 
 
- the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. 
 
• We understood how the Authority and the group is complying with those legal and regulatory frameworks by making inquiries to the monitoring officer, internal auditors, and 
those responsible for legal and compliance procedures. We corroborated our inquiries through our review of minutes and papers provided to the Cabinet, Audit and Procurement 
Committee. Through our communications with management and attendance at the Audit and Procurement Committee we have assessed the procedures in place in relation to 
the prevention and detection of fraud; 
 
• We assessed the susceptibility of the Authority’s and group’s financial statements to material 
misstatement, including how fraud might occur. Audit procedures performed by the group 
engagement team included: 
 
- identifying and assessing the design effectiveness of controls management has in place to prevent and detect fraud; 
 

- understanding how those charged with governance considered and addressed the potential for override of controls or other inappropriate influence over the financial reporting 
process; 
 
- challenging assumptions and judgments made by management in its significant accounting estimates; 
 
- identifying and testing journal entries, in particular any journal entries posted with unusual account combinations; 
 
• We did not identify any key audit matters relating to irregularities, including fraud. 
 



 

143 

 
 
Other information 
The Director of Finance and Corporate Services is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Statement of Accounts, 
other than the Authority and group financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except 
to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge of the group and Authority obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice 
Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider 
whether the Annual Governance Statement does not comply with the ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government: Framework (2016)’ published by CIPFA and SOLACE 
or is misleading or inconsistent with the information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses 
all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 
Opinion on other matter required by the Code of Audit Practice 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and our knowledge of the Authority gained through our work in relation to the 
Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information published together with the financial statements in the 
Statement of Accounts for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if: 
 
• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 
 
• we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 
 
• we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, 
or at the conclusion of the audit; or; 
 
• we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 
 
• we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters. 
 
Responsibilities of the Authority, the Director of Finance and Corporate Services and Those Charged with Governance for the financial statements 



 

144 

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities set out on page 16, the Authority is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs 
and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this authority, that officer is the Director of Finance and Corporate Services. 
The Director of Finance and Corporate Services is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance with 
proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view, and for such internal control as the Director of Finance and Corporate Services determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the Director of Finance and Corporate Services is responsible for assessing the group’s and the Authority’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention by government that the services 
provided by the Authority will no longer be provided. 
 
The Audit and Procurement Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those Charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the Authority’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
Other matters which we are required to address 
We were appointed by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd in December 2017 to audit the financial statements for the year ending 31 March 2019 and subsequent financial 
periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is one year. 
 
The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Authority or its subsidiaries and we remain independent of the Authority and the group 
in conducting our audit. 
 
We have provided the following services in addition to the audit, to the Authority and its subsidiaries since 1 April 2018 that have not been disclosed separately in the Statement 
of Accounts: 
 
- agreed-upon procedures in relation to the Housing Benefit Subsidy Claim and the Teachers’ Pension return for the year ended 31 March 2019 
 
- annual subscription to the CFO Insights service provided by Grant Thornton. 
 
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit and Procurement Committee. 
 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements – Conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 
 
Conclusion 
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2017, we are satisfied that the 



 

145 

Authority put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2019. 
Significant risks 
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report on how our work addressed the significant risks we identified in forming our conclusion on the adequacy of the 
Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. Significant risks are those risks that in our view had the potential to cause us 
to reach an inappropriate conclusion on the audited body’s arrangements. The table below sets out the significant risks we have identified. These significant risks were addressed 
in the context of our conclusion on the Authority’s arrangements as a whole, and in forming our conclusion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these risks. 

 
Significant risks  How the matter was addressed in the audit 

Risk 1 - Medium Term Financial Sustainability 
The Authority is currently forecasting a balanced budget to 2019/20, but faces 
difficulties in balancing its finances from 2020/21 onwards and 
acknowledges that the uncertainty of Local Government funding from 2020/21 could 
impact on its aim to deliver a balanced position. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to: 
• assessing the Authority’s processes for planning its finances; and 

• assessing the adequacy of actions being taken to effectively manage particularly 
constrained elements of its budgeted expenditure, especially that relating to social 
care and temporary housing. 
Key findings 

• The Authority achieved its planned outturn for the year ending 31 March 2019 
delivering an underspend of £1 million. 

 
Significant risks  How the matter was addressed in the audit 
• The Authority’s current medium-term financial plan shows that the Authority has set 
a balanced budget for 2019/2020, which requires delivery of £11 million of savings. 
The Authority’s reserves increased by £9 million to £71 million in 2018/19. These 
reserves could be used to support revenue spending if savings are not fully delivered 
in the medium term. The Authority is proactively working on ways to deliver savings 
across services lines and income generation to reduce its current revenue budget 
gaps. 

 

Risk 2 - Capital Programme 
The Authority’s 2018/19 capital outturn position was estimated at £222 million in 
January 2019 compared with the original estimate reported to Cabinet in February 
2018 of £262 million. The actual capital payments made by the end of September 
2018 were £34 million.  There is risk that the capital expenditure planned for 2018/19 
will not be achieved and that this will have revenue implications for the authority which 
could affect the delivery of its budget. 

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to:  • monitoring the Authority’s 
performance against its 2018/19 capital programme; and  
• assessing whether any delays or slippages in delivery have a significant impact on 
the Authority’s capital strategy and objectives or 2018/19 revenue expenditure.   
Key findings The Authority reduced its capital programme during 2018/19 due to 
delays in project implementation and the revised budget of £175.9 million was 
reported to the Audit and Procurement Committee in February 2019.  As a result of 
this planned underspend some capital projects have been deferred into 2019/20, but 
this did not lead to any significant changes in the Authority’s capital strategy or 
aborted projects or any significant unplanned revenue expenditure. 

 
Responsibilities of the Authority 
The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and 
governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 
 
We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
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efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority's arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 
 
We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor 
General in November 2017, as to whether in all significant respects, the Authority had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions and deployed resources 
to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to consider 
under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Authority put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of 
resources for the year ended 31 March 2019. 
 
We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the 
Authority has put in placeproper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - Delay in certification of completion of the audit 
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of 
Audit Practice until we have completed the work necessary to issue our Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) Component Assurance statement for the Authority for the 
year ended 31 March 2019. We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on the financial statements or on our conclusion on the Authority's arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2019. 

 
Use of our report 
 
This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of 
the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Authority’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.  

 
 

M C Stocks 
• Mark C Stocks, Key Audit Partner 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 

 
• Birmingham 

 
Date: 4 September 2019 

 


